Exploring Electrochemical Reactivity in Ionically-Gated Field Effect Transistors

by

M. Eli Bostian

Bachelor of Science in Chemistry and Mathematical Sciences, Pfeiffer University, 2017

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Swanson School of Engineering in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

University of Pittsburgh

2020

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SWANSON SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

This thesis was presented

by

M. Eli Bostian

It was defended on

July 15, 2020

and approved by

Susan Fullerton-Shirey, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Chemical and Petroleum

Engineering

James R. McKone, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Chemical and Petroleum

Engineering

Feng Xiong, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Electrical and Computer

Engineering

Jennifer Laaser, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Chemistry

Ke Xu, Ph.D., Visiting Research Assistant Professor, Department of Chemical and

Petroleum Engineering

Thesis Advisors: Susan Fullerton-Shirey, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering,

James R. McKone, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Chemical and Petroleum

Engineering

Copyright © by M. Eli Bostian 2020

Exploring Electrochemical Reactivity in Ionically-Gated Field Effect Transistors

M. Eli Bostian, M.S.

University of Pittsburgh, 2020

Electric double layer gated field effect transistors (EDL FETs) are devices commonly used to investigate the fundamental properties of new materials, such as two-dimensional (2D) layered materials. Despite this usefulness and further potential for integration into devices and circuits, EDL FETs have the possibility of undergoing electrochemical reactions during device operation. Most often, this electrochemistry goes unmonitored. Part of the challenge of detecting electrochemical reactivity within EDL FETs resides in a knowledge gap between the device and analytical electrochemistry communities; that is, what type of reference electrode should be used, how should one be used, and what does it mean to monitor one?

This work addresses this issue by introducing a silver metal quasi-reference electrode in a graphene EDL FET with a solid polymer electrolyte— polyethylene oxide lithium perchlorate (PEO:LiClO₄)— serving as the ion-conducting dielectric. The hypothesis was that Li⁺ ion intercalation in graphene would drive irreversible changes to device transfer characteristics and be detectable by reference electrode monitoring. The reference electrode was used in two experiments in which the gate window of an EDL FET device was either increased with each measurement (starting from -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5 V and expanding to -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 10 V) or fixed (-2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 7 V). Changes to the transfer characteristics of the devices after each experiment—an increase in average drain current, Dirac points shifted negative vs. V_{SG} in both forward and reverse transfer sweeps, an increased ON/OFF ratio, and higher-sloped side-gate current shifted negative vs. V_{SG}–were noted as possible evidence of electrochemical reactivity within the graphene channels. However, thanks to the Ag/Ag⁺ reference electrode, the data from these experiments provide evidence that intercalation of Li⁺ in graphene was highly unlikely. Possible alternative explanations will be discussed, including reduction of water, PMMA, and graphene oxide defects.

Table of Contents

Preface			
1.0	Intro	$\operatorname{duction}$	1
	1.1	Field Effect Transistors: Ubiquitous and Evolving	1
	1.2	Exploring Electrochemistry in FETs as Nonaqueous Electrochemical Systems	3
	1.3	Purpose and Scope of the Content Herein	6
2.0	\mathbf{EDL}	Gating of Two-Dimensional FETs Using a Single-Ion Conductor	7
3.0	Desig	gning Graphene FETs for Electrochemical Investigations	8
	3.1	A Case for Graphene Channels	9
	3.2	Testing Graphene FET Functionality by Back Gating a Bare FET \ldots	11
4.0	Desig	ning and Conditioning Silver Quasi-Reference Electrodes for FET	
	Geon	netries	16
	4.1	On Silver Quasi-Reference Electrodes for Electrochemical Investigations of	
		Graphene FETs	16
	4.2	Open-Circuit Voltage Measurement of Silver Quasi-Reference Electrodes	
		in a Solid Polymer Electrolyte	20
	4.3	Conditioning Reference Electrodes with Small Gate Window FET Transfer	
		Sweeps	24
5.0	Modu	ulating FET Gate Potential while Monitoring Reference Electrode	
	Poter	ntial	29
	5.1	Dynamic and Fixed Gate Potential Window Measurement Experimental	
		Conditions	29
	5.2	On Interpreting Electrochemical Potential from Reference Electrode Mea-	
		surements	30
	5.3	Broad Trends in the Dynamic V_{SG} Window Measurements $\ \ . \ . \ . \ .$	31
	5.4	Broad Trends in the Fixed V_{SG} Window Measurements $\ . \ . \ . \ .$.	34
	5.5	Comparing Changes Observed in both FET Transfer Characteristics	37

	5.6	Identifying a Likely Electrochemical Reaction Potential	41		
	5.7	Exploring Possible Electrochemical Reactions	46		
6.0	Conc	lusions and Future Work	50		
Appendix A. Experimental Protocol and Conditions					
	A.1	Si/SiO_2 Substrate Preparation	54		
	A.2	Fabricating Sample Reference Electrode Pads for Open-Circuit Voltage			
		Measurements	55		
	A.3	Open-Circuit Voltage Measurements on Sample Reference Electrodes and			
		Conditioning	55		
	A.4	Few-Layer Graphene Mechanical Exfoliation	56		
	A.5	Designing and Depositing Alignment Markers and Marker Field	57		
	A.6	Designing and Depositing Gate, Source, Drain, and Reference Electrodes .	60		
	A.7	Preparing Device Sample Chip Inside Glovebox for Transport to Probe			
		Station	63		
	A.8	Preparing and Depositing PEO:LiClO ₄ Solution	63		
	A.9	Onset Potential Identification Protocol	64		
	A.10	Nernst Equation Estimation for Hydrogen Evolution Reaction in this System	66		
App	pendix	B. Paper Insert	67		
Bib	Bibliography				

List of Tables

5.1	Sweep Number and Maximum V_{SG} of Dynamic Gate Potential Window Mea-	
	surements	32
5.2	Sweep Number and Maximum V_{SG} of Fixed Gate Potential Window Measure-	
	ments	35
A1	Ag Pad Conditioning Attempt Cycle	56

List of Figures

1.1	Schematic of a Back-gated FET vs. an EDL FET	2
1.2	Diagram of a 3-Electrode Cell vs. an EDL FET with Reference Electrode $\ .$.	5
2.1	Table of Contents Graphic from "EDL Gating of Two-Dimensional FETs Using	
	a Single-Ion Conductor."	7
3.1	Optical Images of Graphene Flakes	13
3.2	Transfer Characteristics of a Back-Gated FET Sample	13
4.1	Reference Electrode Anatomy Diagrams	18
4.2	Open-Crcuit Voltage (OCV) Ag Reference Electrode Measurements	21
4.3	Circuit Diagrams of Open-Circuit Voltage (OCV) Ag Reference Electrode Mea-	
	surements	25
4.4	Reference Electrode Drift During FET Measurements with or without Rest	
	Intervals	27
5.1	Dynamic V_{SG} Window Transfer Characteristics	33
5.2	Fixed V_{SG} Window Transfer Characteristics	36
5.3	Analysis of $V_{\rm Ref}$ Drift in Dynamic and Fixed $V_{\rm SG}$ Window Experiments $\ . \ .$	38
5.4	Graphene FET I_D Transfer Characteristic Changes Resulting from Physio-	
	chemical Phenomena	38
5.5	Graphene FET Transfer Measurements Before and After Both Experiments .	40
5.6	Evidence Supporting the Onset Potential as a Reaction Potential	42
5.7	Onset Potential vs. $V_{\rm SG}$ $\hfill \ldots$ $\hfill \ldots$	43
5.8	Onset Potential vsV $_{\rm Ref}$	45
5.9	Relevant Electrochemical Potentials	47
A1	Estimating Graphene Flake Thicknesses	58
A2	Laying Out Gate, Source, and Drain Electrodes for Graphene FET	61
A3	Laying Out Reference Electrode for Graphene FET	62
A4	Process for Identifying the Onset Potential	65

Preface

From the journey that quite nearly rendered me hollow, I suddenly find myself poised for the next; by the grace of God, I have made it.

To Dr. Susan Fullerton, thank you for teaching me how to tread the graduate student's path and for instructing me that feeling out of place is different from being out of purpose.

To Dr. James McKone, thank you for preparing my chemist's lenses for a chemical engineer's plans and for redirecting my attention when my thoughts grew errant.

To Dr. Ke Xu, Jierui Liang, and Zhongmou Chao, thank you for your guidance through the arcane arts of 2D crystal exfoliation and nanofabrication and for your instruction on the supple science of device measurement.

To the rest of my labmates, thank you for your support, guidance, and tutelage, without which I should surely have perished.

I would also like to thank my friends here at the university for the opportunity to become adept in foosball (perhaps my only honed athletic skill), for reminding me of the solidarity of the well-trodden trail, and for keeping the stories going after months of papers and conferences.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their unending support, Sarah for her patience and understanding, and my grandparents for their ready encouragement.

— Eli Bostian

"Please, we're all friends here. Feel free to call me by my first name: Master." — MASTER ELODIN, The Name of the Wind by PATRICK ROTHFUSS

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Field Effect Transistors: Ubiquitous and Evolving

The fundamental building blocks of computation are changing. New challenges in data processing and analysis have transformed niche fields of research like spintronics[1, 2, 3], photonics[4, 5, 6], and neuromorphic computing[7, 8, 9]. As a part of this wave of new paradigms and technologies in computing, the classical field effect transistor (FET), the class of device on which all modern binary computation depends, has seen a conceptual evolution as well.

A standard example of a FET— one that is used in modern, commercial computing is the metal-oxide-semiconductor FET, or MOSFET. Depicted in Figure 1.1 (a), the MOS-FET is predictably constructed from three components: metal, serving as the electric fieldinducing electrode, an oxide, serving as a dielectric to pass the electric field while preventing electrical current, and a semiconductor, serving as a channel with variable resistance that can be adjusted by the field. When a strong enough electric field is passed to the semiconductor— the required electric field strength varies according to the semiconductor material— the semiconductor transitions from a state of low conductivity ("OFF state") to a state of high conductivity ("ON state") or vice versa. Throughout the computer revolution, this technology has predominately used silicon as the semiconductor in MOSFETs, but researchers have recently been exploring two-dimensional (2D) semiconductors in the hopes of developing devices that use less power, are ultra thin, have sharp band edges, and effectively function more efficiently in specialized (or even generalized) applications.[10]

Among this surge of investigations, electric double layer (EDL) gating has developed as a particularly effective method of gating 2D FETs.[11] As depicted in Figure 1.1 (b), EDL FETs are constructed differently from a traditional MOSFET. Instead of gating through a solid oxide dielectric, EDL FETs use electric fields to direct ions through an ionicallyconductive dielectric to the semiconductor of the FET (the "channel"). By pushing charges to within a nanometer of the channel of the device, a capacitor forms at the channel-electrolyte



Figure 1.1: Schematic of a Back-gated FET vs. an EDL FET. (a) Back-gated FETs are fabricated atop a multilayer subtrate that functions as both the gate (bottom layer) and the dielectric (top layer) of the device. Biasing the gate positively vs. source (left) induces negative charges in the channel, while biasing the gate negatively vs. source (right) induces positive charges in the channel. (b) EDL FETs require an electrolyte to be deposited between the gate (which can be fabricated either above (top gate) or to the side (side gate) and the channel. Biasing the gate forces ions of the same charge polarity along the surface of the channel, inducing negative charges in the channel with a positive gate bias (left) and positive charges in the channel surface. A similar EDL is formed along the surface of the gate as ions with charges opposing the gate are pulled to its surface.

interface and creates sheet carrier densities of $4 \times 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, exceeding that of a conventional MOSFET by one to two orders of magnitude.[12] However, EDL FETs pose new challenges that are not frequently encountered in other device research, and have predominately been only indirectly addressed until now.[13, 14] Specifically, there is a frequently a standing uncertainty as to the types of electrochemical reactions that may be occurring as an EDL FET operates.

1.2 Exploring Electrochemistry in FETs as Nonaqueous Electrochemical Systems

EDL FETs, despite the presence of compounds and voltage biases that can certainly drive electrochemical reactions, are not typically designed to measure for and identify any reactions. In some cases, new or altered material characteristics such as heightened conductivity or even superconductivity have been dissociated from or attributed to hypothetical electrochemical reactions, but have not been confirmed by analytical techniques. [13, 14] This is not to say that electrochemical reactions occurring in EDL FETs are a complete unknown; there have been efforts to measure electrochemical potentials within EDL FETs or similar devices in previous research. [15] Some researchers have incorporated a reference electrode into the gate electrode of the devices to monitor electrochemical potential, although these devices are unable to simultaneously gate and read potential, requiring independent reading and programming sequences. [16, 17, 18] Others have even developed devices containing components similar to a 3-electrode electrochemical cell, allowing simultaneous monitoring of reference potential and gating. [19, 20, 21] The majority of these 3-electrode cell measurements have been conducted with organic thin-film EDL FETs and not with devices incorporating 2D crystal channels. However, it is the 2D crystal channeled devices we desire to investigate in this work. In order to learn from these efforts from others, we must first understand the 3-electrode cell and how it relates to EDL FETs.

The 3-electrode cell (as depicted in Figure 1.2 (a)) is a very common design for experimental setup in classical electrochemistry. A 3-electrode cell is comprised of three electrodesthe working, counter, and reference electrodes— immersed in an electrolyte solution.[22] The working electrode is usually the site of the electrochemical reaction of interest, its potential monitored for reaction identification. The counter electrode completes the electrochemical circuit as the host of a complementary reaction, and its current is usually monitored for reaction onset. The reference electrode is the component of this setup that allows measurements in one experiment to be compared to another; a reference electrode with a stable potential can be mapped against electrochemical reactions from multiple experiments, allowing for a sense of continuity when the measurements are compared.

Although not directly analogous, the design of an EDL FET is similar to that of a 3electrode cell. The two are compared side-by-side in Figure 1.2. Similar to a 3-electrode cell, an EDL FET device is immersed (or, more specifically, coated) in an electrolyte. The source electrode is held at 0 V, the drain electrode is held at a small bias versus the source (0.1 V, in the case of this work), and the channel forges an electrical connection between the two (depending on the potential held at the gate electrode). In this way, the channel, drain electrode, and source electrode can be comparable to a working electrode, as both are sites of electrochemical reactions of interest. On the other hand, the gate electrode can complete the electrochemical circuit and bias against the channel, much in the manner that a counter electrode would function. This leaves the standard EDL FET geometry only missing a reference electrode, the addition of which (as seen in Figure 1.2 (b)) is a driving motivation for this research.

By incorporating a device feature that will work effectively as a reference electrode, we stand to learn much about the chemistry of EDL FETs. The focus of our research here is to explore a method of applying a reference electrode (a silver quasi-reference electrode) to an EDL FET, to investigate gate potential ranges resulting in phenomenological changes in the devices, and to identify a collection of possible chemical reactions resulting from the voltages reached in the devices.



Figure 1.2: Diagram of a 3-Electrode Cell vs. an EDL FET with Reference Electrode. (a) A classical 3-electrode cell comprised of three electrodes— the working, counter, and reference electrodes— immersed in an electrolyte solution. (b) The components of an EDL FET as compared to those of a 3-electrode cell, consisting of four electrodes— the source, drain, gate, and reference electrodes. The source and drain are connected through a channel and may be compared to a working electrode. The gate electrode may be compared to a counter electrode. The reference electrode is directly analogous.

1.3 Purpose and Scope of the Content Herein

This thesis is divided into six chapters and two appendices. You are finishing the Chapter 1 now, which serves as an introduction to the content of the work presented here and its various motivations. Chapter 2 delivers a brief summary of research I have contributed to prior to the work that is closely documented here; my previous efforts do not directly relate to measuring and interpreting electrochemical reactions in EDL FETs, and so have been isolated to this separate chapter. Appendix B contains a copy of this paper resulting from the prior work, "Electric Double-Layer Gating of Two-Dimensional Field-Effect Transistors Using a Single-Ion Conductor." Chapter 3 describes the design methodology behind the FETs fabricated for this research, presents data representative of a bare graphene FET, and serves as an introduction to the interpretation of FET transfer characteristic measurements, the primary method of analysis in this work. Similarly, Chapter 4 outlines the design principles behind the reference electrode developed for this work, presents data collected to analyze the behavior of the reference electrodes with our solid polymer electrolyte, and identifies protocol used to condition the reference electrodes in all experiments with EDL FETs shown here. Chapter 5, easily the largest, outlines the experimental methods and measurements captured to explore electrochemical activity in EDL FETs. EDL FET transfer characteristics data are analyzed here. Chapter 6 brings the thesis to a conclusion, with a brief review of observations made and a restatement of work that will push the goals of this research forward in the future. Experimental details and representative experimental protocol are reserved for Appendix A.

2.0 EDL Gating of Two-Dimensional FETs Using a Single-Ion Conductor

During my first year as a graduate student researcher, I worked on a project focused on single-ion conductors (i.e., an electrolyte where one type of ion is mobile and one is immobile) for EDL gating of 2D FETs. Using a single-ion (instead of dual-ion) conductor is a new area of investigation for 2D FETs. By working on this project, I learned technical skills for 2D crystal exfoliation, nanofabrication (e-beam metal evaporation and deposition, optical and e-beam lithography, etc.), and FET electrical characterization, and the work resulted in the paper "EDL Gating of Two-Dimensional FETs Using a Single-Ion Conductor[23]." My contributions to this paper were 2D crystal exfoliation, device fabrication, ionomer solution preparation and deposition, and device transfer measurement.



Figure 2.1: Table of Contents Graphic from "EDL Gating of Two-Dimensional FETs Using a Single-Ion Conductor[23]."

3.0 Designing Graphene FETs for Electrochemical Investigations

The FETs fabricated for this work were designed with several principles in mind, but chief among them was the intention of seeking and identifying electrochemical reactions contributing to changes in FET transfer characteristics as a result of increasing gate potential to sufficiently high biases. This chapter lays out the merits of graphene to test this hypothesis while also presenting some of the properties of the bare graphene FETs. These preliminary back-gated results were collected to establish a history of device performance from before electrolyte deposition but also provide an opportunity here to discuss the properties of a graphene FET relevant to the rest of this work.

3.1 A Case for Graphene Channels

At the start of this research, we knew from past experiences (personal and anecdotal) that EDL FETs can show unusual characteristics at gate potentials far beyond bounds typically present in FET research. Defining these bounds is difficult, largely due to the difference in field effect impact through different dielectric materials and lengths, but the typical range of top- and side-gated EDL FETs of -3 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 3 V provide a sense of the gate potential region typically regarded as "safe." [24, 25, 26] Citing such unusual characteristic features is difficult as well, as device researchers frequently interpret the gate biases inducing these changes as "too high" and simply retreat from measuring at such bounds. As mentioned in Section 1.2, these unusual characteristics have manifested in the form of sharply increasing drain current, but other observations have likely existed but remain unreported. The assumption that electrochemical reactions are the root cause of these characteristic changes is surely reasonable, yet is also surprisingly under-investigated. As a result, when considering channel materials for this work, we sought materials that were well-established in the device research community, possessed material features relevant to our purposes, and that belonged in a wealth of already studied material relevant to these phenomena.

As an early approach to understanding electrochemistry in 2D EDL FETs, device material selection required careful consideration with the goal of choosing materials with as well-understood electrochemical activity (even outside of the FET community) as possible; it was this consideration that ultimately pointed us in the direction of graphene. 2D semiconductor crystals (such as the wide selection available from the family of materials known as transition metal dichalcogenides) are capable of displaying a plethora of beneficial properties for exploring electrical characteristics such as high ON/OFF ratio (over 4-7 orders of magnitude) and varying states of doping (n-type, p-type, or ambipolar).[27] By comparison, a semimetal like graphene typically finds less hold as a channel material in similar applications because its lack of a bandgap results in device ON/OFF ratios peaking at approximately 1-2 orders of magnitude across a typical EDL FET operational gate voltage, whether back, top, or side gated.[28] Graphene does, however, benefit from other qualities— high carrier mobility (as high as $15\,000\,\mathrm{cm}^2\,\mathrm{V}^{-1}\,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ on room temperature SiO₂[29]) and a single-atom thickness to protect against short-channel effects, particularly[28]—leading to its implementation in a host of sensor and radio frequency applications. All of these features have the opportunity to result in interesting devices, but they do not fully address our goals of identifying electrochemical reactions in EDL FETs. More relevant to this research, graphene is ambipolar (allowing us the opportunity to determine which type of charge carrier is more or less impacted by electrical stress via high gate potential) and particularly sensitive to doping (as evident from its widespread adaptation in the sensor community).[30, 31, 32]

Graphene also boasts a wealth of existing literature regarding lithium intercalation from the battery community [33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41], providing us with a well-documented electrochemical reaction to investigate, this time in EDL FETs. By gating graphene FETs using a PEO:LiClO₄ solid polymer electrolyte, we produce a device environment that also puts three suspect reactants— graphene, lithium ions, and perchlorate ions— in close proximity. This creates the opportunity to evaluate if any unusual FET characteristics are caused by lithium intercalation in graphene, or if the changes occur as a result of some other factor. Thus our hypothesis is outlined: Lithium intercalation in graphene leads to the first notable occurrence of unusual FET electrical characteristics.

The types of graphene flakes produced for FETs can vary along several factors. A traditionally ideal graphene flake is of a very high aspect ratio, as charge carrier loss per unit length of the channel increases with a larger channel width[28]. To mitigate confusion, the material used as a channel in the devices produced for this research will be referred to as graphene. Technically, any graphene flakes consisting of more than one layer of graphene is not graphene at all; it is graphite. Graphite ultimately loses the ability to have its conductivity modulated by electric field as its layer number increases, which would effectively eliminate our ability to observe changes to its FET characteristics (it would no longer be a transistor). However, considering we were interested in exploring lithium intercalation, we wanted to ensure we had enough material available to serve as a reactant, increasing our ability to detect effects of intercalates during measurement. In order to suit both needs, I followed two rules in graphene flake selection for device channels. As long as the flakes were less than approximately 10 layers, they would exhibit predominately graphene (not

graphite) FET channel properties. Also, as long as flakes were still on the order of 5-20 nm along the channel width, they were permissible as device channels. In both cases, the additional volume would allow for more intercalation during experimentation.

3.2 Testing Graphene FET Functionality by Back Gating a Bare FET

Before depositing a solid electrolyte atop our graphene FETs (which significantly increases the chemical complexity of the system), measuring the electrical properties of the FETs provided an opportunity to confirm the functionality of the devices and establish a baseline to compare against post-deposition performance. It also provides an opportunity to describe the basic process by which FET transfer measurements may be evaluated; although the devices were not side-gated through a polymer electrolyte at this stage, they retained gate modulation functionality through the substrate, a wafer of p-doped silicon with a 90 nm top-layer of silicon oxide serving as the gate dielectric. A FET transfer measurement, or "transfer sweep," refers to the electrical measurement of a FET in which the source and drain electrodes are held at a constant bias V_{DS} (in all of our measurements, this value is 100 mV) and the gate potential V_G is varied across a voltage window while currents at the gate and drain electrodes are monitored. Instead of V_G , the specific type of gate electrode will often be indicated (as it is in this work) by type (V_{BG} for back-gate, V_{SG} for side-gate).

A representative back gated graphene transfer measurement is shown in Figure 3.2 (a). Plotted along the y-axis, the drain current, or the electrical current measured at the drain electrode (I_D), functions as a measure of the electrical current passing through the device channel from source to drain. Plotted along the x-axis, the back-gate (silicon substrate) was variably biased in a double sweep starting from -30 V, increasing to 30 V, and reversing to -30 V, all at a constant voltage rate of change (or sweep rate) of ± 1.2 V/s. Transfer sweeps such as shown in Figure 3.2 (a) are usually conducted as a double sweep in which the gate electrode is biased from the negative limit of the V_{BG} window to the positive limit and back. Typically, the two halves of a double sweep measurement (bisected by the sign of the sweep rate) are referred to as the forward (towards positive V_{BG}) and reverse (towards negative V_{BG}) sweeps.

It can often be difficult to distinguish the plot of the forward sweep from the reverse sweep, as is the case in Figure 3.2 (a). This is indicative of a small hysteresis, or the lagging of changes to a physical property (in this case, the change in I_D) behind changes to the inducing effect (the change in V_{BG}). Hysteresis can be avoided by decreasing the sweep rate of the measurement; however, the extent to which the hysteresis can be mitigated may be limited in some FET materials, as will be demonstrated in Section 5.1. The presence of large hysteresis suggests some manner of transport, mobility, or phase change limitation in the system of the device. It is expected of a typical graphene FET that the hysteresis measured during back-gating be small ($\leq 3\%$ of the gate window size) at the sweep rate shown here, and Figure 3.2 is consistent with these expectations.

Another significant feature worth identifying in Figure 3.2 (a) is the Dirac point voltage. A characteristic particular to graphene, the Dirac point refers to the energy level in the band structure where the valance and conduction bands meet. In a FET transfer characteristic measurement, the minimum of the drain current is also referred to as the "Dirac point voltage" or sometimes just "Dirac point," as this state of minimum channel conductivity arises as a result of the physical phenomenon. This is because gating the graphene channel shifts its Fermi level. When the Fermi level is above the Dirac point, the channel conductivity increases due to an excess of electrons. When the Fermi level is below the Dirac point, the channel conductivity increases due to an excess of holes. When combined, these phenomena



Figure 3.1: Optical Images of Graphene Flakes. Optical image comparison of (a) a graphene flake at 2 layers and 2 µm wide channel and (b) a graphene flake at approximately 8 layers and 7 µm wide channel. The larger volume present in (b) due to its increased thickness presents a more suitable candidate flake for investigating lithium intercalation.



Figure 3.2: Transfer Characteristics of a Back-Gated FET Sample. Transfer characteristics of back-gated FET sample divided into (a) drain current (I_D , source to drain) (inset: cartoon of back-gated FET) and (b) back-gate current (I_{BG} , source to gate).

result in a minimum in graphene conductivity as the Fermi level equals the Dirac point. Even at the Dirac point voltage, graphene FETs often show relatively high minimum conductivity when compared to most semiconductor FETs (on the order of µA compared to pA), so many would argue that a graphene channel FET technically does not have an OFF-state.

The positioning of the Dirac point on the x-axis of a transfer sweep expresses the doping of the channel in a graphene FET. A perfect, undoped graphene channel would be symmetrical about 0 V V_{BG} , but this is difficult and uncommon to produce. Impurity doping from lab-grown graphene, adsorbates on the channel, films of photo- or e-beam resist from the fabrication process, and even interactions from the substrate can push the Dirac point of a device to be more negative (n-type) or more positive (p-type) relative to 0 V gate bias [42, 43, 44, 45, 46]. The devices produced in this research were treated to minimize any of these confounding contaminates by oxygen plasma cleaning the substrate before graphene exfoliation, minimizing sample exposure to ambient atmosphere, and thorough cleaning of the sample with organic solvent washes and nitrogen jet drying. Despite these efforts, the positioning of the Dirac point at about -5 V versus V_{BG} indicates n-type doping. We speculate that this results from e-beam resist residue, as has been demonstrated in other works [47, 46]. This doping also explains the seemingly higher current reached on the positive side of the gate bias; we would expect to reach a similar drain current at a more negative gate bias than was measured here. The presence of this dopant was not met with concern, as there was no speculation that the resist would inhibit the FETs' operation nor their electrochemical reactivity.

Figure 3.2 (b) depicts the back-gate current (I_{BG}) of this device during its transfer sweep. There is a very small amount of current that is passed from the source through the dielectric to the gate; this current is referred to as the gate current or "leakage current." Unlike the I_D , the leakage current reverses direction as the gate bias is reversed. Leakage current through the gate of a functional device is typically at least 2 orders of magnitude lower than the drain current; otherwise, it is frequently assumed that the device has developed an electrical short between the source and the gate (or the substrate had poor oxide growth in production) and is said to have undergone dielectric breakdown. This device has clearly not undergone a dielectric breakdown, as (seen in Figure 3.2(b)) the current is measured in pA as opposed to μ A.

The work detailed here demonstrates the functionality of the graphene FETs developed and defines relevant features of a typical graphene FET's transfer characteristics. These features continue to be relevant in reviewing the results of side-gating the devices through a PEO:LiClO₄ polymer electrolyte as the dielectric. More relevant concepts will be introduced in the upcoming chapter regarding the implementation of quasi-reference electrodes in these same devices.

4.0 Designing and Conditioning Silver Quasi-Reference Electrodes for FET Geometries

This chapter focuses on work undertaken to incorporate a reference electrode into a graphene-based EDL FET. The goals of this work were (a) to identify a reference electrode material and implementation that would function with 2D EDL FET geometry and traditional FET measurement techniques, and (b) to evaluate the stability of the resulting electrode potential. We addressed these goals using open-circuit voltage measurements comparing potential drift between two reference electrodes at varying distances and by attempting to mitigate said drift with a conditioning method. Resulting from the open-circuit voltage measurements, it was concluded that the attempted conditioning method was ultimately unnecessary. Instead, a measurement protocol involving three initial transfer sweeps within the smallest measured gate window of $-2.5V \leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5$ and 30-minute rest periods between all transfer sweeps with no additional reference electrode treatments was found to be sufficient for maintaining reference electrode potential.

4.1 On Silver Quasi-Reference Electrodes for Electrochemical Investigations of Graphene FETs

The design constraints of applying a reference electrode to a planar, vacuum-isolated FET system strains the practicality of classical electrochemical approaches. The primary limitation of traditional electrochemical analysis is its use of liquid electrolytes; in fact, essentially all commercial reference electrodes are designed to be submersed in aqueous solutions[48, 49]. However, EDL FET devices, including the devices fabricated for this work, are (1) often measured under vacuum in order to isolate the devices from atmospheric contaminates, and (2) use electrolyte as a layer or thin film in the solid state device[50, 51, 52, 53]. Incorporating a macroscopic, liquid-filled electrode into a ultra-high vacuum probe station while minimizing damage risk to the vacuum itself and simultaneously fully immersing the electrode in a

thin film becomes impractically expensive and difficult. Furthermore, we hoped to develop a reference electrode that could be incorporated in the 2D EDL FET design and fabrication workflow simply and without need of new measurement equipment; otherwise, it is highly unlikely that our peers and collegues will attempt to address the question of electrochemical reactivity in EDL FETs. Particularly, I expect the ability to lithographically define and fabricate such an electrode will go a long way to encourage those already familiar with this fabrication methodology to attempt electrochemical measurements in their research. Identifying the components and characteristics of a typical reference electrode will illuminate the framework by which we addressed this difficulty.

Figure 4.1 schematizes the geometry of most commercial reference electrodes as compared to the design we adopted for our reference electrode. The most common commercial reference electrodes are termed full half cells, and they are made up of four components: the body, top seal, junction, and active component[48]. The body and top seal isolate the filling solution of the reference electrode from the electrolyte of the electrochemical cell. Similarly, the junction of a reference electrode facilitates very slow ion transfer between the inside and outside of the electrode body, thereby protecting electrode's local chemical environment from that of the electrochemical cell. None of these components are inherently necessary in our design; simply using a solid polymer electrolyte already restricts ionic conductivity beyond that of a liquid electrochemical cell. Instead, we will focus on the active component.

Active components are a necessary part of any reference electrode (even in nonaqueous, solid-state, or thin-film systems), as they work together to establish the electrode's potential. In an Ag/AgCl reference electrode, for example, a silver wire and an AgCl salt coating make up the redox couple and are active components of the full half cell. However, approaches in nonaqueous or solid-state systems will frequently favor redox couple depositions over a couple shared between a metal wire and corresponding salt. For example, a study from Xiong et al. demonstrates lithium intercalation in MoS_2 using a lithium pellet as both a reference electrode and a Li^+ reservoir. This deviates from our goal of streamlined fabrication, as lithium metal is pyrophoric and must be handled with significant caution. Several other recently developed methods rely on the lithium iron phosphate (LFP) redox couple (particles incorporated into an ink or solution, deposited, and monitored with a contacting electrode)



Figure 4.1: Reference Electrode Anatomy Diagrams. (a) Schematic breaking down the various components of a commercial reference electrode in analyte solution. (b) Cross-sectional (top) and isometric view (bottom) schematics of a 2D reference electrode for EDL FET implementation including hypothetical salt layer beneath solid polymer electrolyte.

as a reference electrode and have been used in thin-film planar systems [54, 18]. These efforts demonstrate excellent potential stability and may reflect a direction for future work in our project. However, in our first approach we desired to develop a methodology that reduced the number of new materials introduced into the device and utilized the familiar fabrication technique of lithography.

Therefore, motivated mainly by the desire for a simple, reproducible fabrication procedure, we chose to implement a bare Ag pad as a reference electrode. This approach is based on a common practice in analytical electrochemistry where bare Ag wires are used as "quasi-reference" electrodes in nonaqueous electrolytes. Quasi-reference electrodes are solid metal electrodes that, despite the absence of a surface coating containing the oxidized form of the redox couple, maintain relatively stable equilibrium potentials under measurement conditions. However, quasi-reference electrodes are prone to potential drift over long measurement times and high potential biases[48, 49]. Potential drift over time for quasi-reference electrodes can vary, with reports broadly differing from 2 mV per 5 hours to 7 mV per 7 days[55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62]. Despite this, the stability of a quasi-reference electrode is still suitable for many measurements, and certainly presents a worthy first approach to easily fabricated electrochemical monitoring in FETs.

Among active materials for quasi-reference electrodes, silver presents a compelling material in the context of this work despite potential drawbacks. Silver electrodes can easily be integrated into the planar design of these FET devices and fabricated directly on the device substrate using the same lithographic processes as the gate, source, and drain electrodes. It is also noted, however, that silver has been shown previously to electromigrate across silicon surfaces, lending the material a level of physical instability that is not ideal for devices on our substrate of choice here[63]. Ultimately, we faced the decision between choosing a metal that is well understood in electrochemistry or searching for the perfect material for simple FET implementation. As a first look at electrochemistry in FETs, we elected to explore the possibilities provided by silver as the reference electrode's active material with an eye towards replacing silver with a more stable material in the future.

We also hypothesized that, in our electrolyte of choice, the stability of a silver reference electrode may be slightly improved from its as-fabricated state. In an Ag/AgCl reference electrode, for example, the silver active component of the electrode is coated in a layer of AgCl salt; this salt layer ensures that the local environment of the Ag metal electrode always contains Ag^+ , the second half of the Ag/Ag^+ redox couple, to maintain the electrode's potential. It was our hypothesis that, following electrolyte deposition, the surface of the silver electrode will react to form a layer of $AgClO_4$ salt to serve as the oxidized form of the Ag/Ag^+ redox couple and further stabilize the potential of the electrode:

$$2\operatorname{LiClO}_4 + \operatorname{Ag}_2 O \rightleftharpoons 2\operatorname{AgClO}_4 + \operatorname{Li}_2 O \tag{4.1}$$

To explore this possibility, we needed to evaluate the native potential drift of the silver electrode in $PEO:LiClO_4$. We also decided to investigate whether the stability under applied potential could be improved with a conditioning process to encourage a salt layer buildup on the surface of the electrode.

4.2 Open-Circuit Voltage Measurement of Silver Quasi-Reference Electrodes in a Solid Polymer Electrolyte

In a preliminary effort to observe the behavior of a silver quasi-reference electrode in contact with a solid polymer electrolyte, we made a set of open-circuit voltage (OCV) measurements of silver electrodes on SiO₂ with a PEO:LiClO₄ film on top. We fabricated the electrodes using an MLA lithographic fabrication process and electron beam metal evaporation to deposit 10 µm square silver pad pairs of varying distance apart on a substrate identical to the substrate used for the devices in this work. The pairs were designed at distances of 10 µm, 100 µm, and 1000 µm in order to compare voltage stability relative to electrode separation distance, as depicted in Figure 4.2 (a). Ultimately, the intention was to determine how much the electrochemical potentials of the silver pads would vary over time. In this OCV measurement method, the potentials of both silver pads were measured relative to ground while maintaining zero current to ground. Figure 4.2 (b), (c), and (d) depict representative potential versus time data for Ag electrodes at each inter-electrode distance. If the reference electrode potentials were completely stable, we would expect the difference



Figure 4.2: Open-Circuit Voltage (OCV) Ag Reference Electrode Measurements. (a) Schematic of reference electrode pads at given distances. (b, c, d) Representative OCV measurements from quasi-reference electrode pads beneath a PEO:LiClO₄ film; OCV data from pads pre-conditioning ("Before") and post-conditioning ("After") procedure at electrode distances of (b) $10 \,\mu$ m, (c) $100 \,\mu$ m, and (d) $1000 \,\mu$ m.

measured between each pad to vary no more than the noise floor of the equipment's potentiometer. However, the initial measurements from this experiment clearly show that a polarization emerges between the two electrodes in all cases. These results regularly reveal a sharp difference in the potentials of the paired electrodes (tens of mV over the first five seconds, as seen in Figure 4.2 (b) and (c)) followed by a predominately linear increase that continues to the end of the measurement. Best fit lines can be drawn from the 5 second marks through the end of the experiment. The slopes of linear best fits to the "Before" lines in (b), (c), and (d) after the first five seconds are 0.28 mV/s, 0.23 mV/s, and 0.15 mV/s, with y-intercepts at 10 mV, 11 mV, and 1 mV, respectively.

We needed to improve our reference electrodes' potential stabilities beyond what the OCV measurements suggested in our first measurements before embarking on FET transfer measurements. Although the polarization did not exceed 65 mV over the course of 60 seconds in any measurement, we expected our FET transfer measurements to take anywhere from 0.5 to 1.5 hours, which would allow drifts of several volts during each measurement. This amount of potential drift was unacceptable for our purposes, as it would eliminate any realistic ability to identify electrochemical phenomena by measured electrochemical potential. However, it is common to "condition" a fresh reference electrode by forcing current through the electrode[48, 49]. Alternating a bias against the reference electrode at above and below the redox potential of the reference electrode metal releases cations into the local environment to ionically bond with nearby anions:

$$LiClO_4 + Ag (s) \rightleftharpoons AgClO_4 + Li^+ + e^-$$
(4.2)

$$\text{Li}^+ + e^- + \text{PEO} \rightleftharpoons \text{PEO} : \text{Li}$$
 (4.3)

This process coats the electrode with a salt layer and incorporates the oxidated part of the redox couple at the interface between electrode and the electrolyte, improving stability of the electrode's potential. With the hope of developing a $AgClO_4$ coating on the electrodes, it was worthwhile to experiment with the electrode pads and see if the potential stability could be improved with a similar conditioning method. The conditioning method (described in detail in the Appendix) required holding one pad at ground while raising and lowering

the potential of the other pad by ± 0.5 V in a square wave (either ON or OFF). The bias between pads was designed as high as 0.5 V in order to ensure reduction and oxidation at each pad regardless of any electrochemical variation between the local environment of each electrode.

Unexpectedly, the conditioning process resulted not in improved stability, but instead a larger voltage offset between each two electrodes, as can be seen in the "After" data in Figure 4.2 (b, c, d). This is reinforced by the y-intercepts of linear best fit lines of the last 55 seconds of "After" data in Figure 4.2 (b), (c), and (d), which are 14 mV, 34 mV, and 23 mV, increasing as compared to the "Before" data by 4 mV, 24 mV, and 22 mV, respectively. The slopes of the lines, on the other hand, were remarkably consistent. Before and after conditioning, the slope of the 10 µm distant pads remained constant and the slope of the 100 µm distant pads decreased by 0.02 mV/s to 0.21 mV/s. The 1000 µm distant pads, not portraying the same sharp potential increase in the first five seconds of measurement as the other two samples, took a longer period of time (approximately 30 seconds) to reach a linear trend after conditioning. However, a linear best fit line taken from the last 30 seconds of the measurement provides a slope of 0.14 mV/s, decreasing by 0.01 mV/s from the "Before" slope. Naturally, an increase in polarization between reference electrodes was the opposite of the intended effect of the conditioning process and requires further interpretation. Polarization between reference electrodes could be indicative of current flow between the two. In that case, it is possible that the conditioning sweeps increased the electrical resistance between the two electrodes, which would increase the polarization of the electrodes as a current flowed. The possibility of such a feedback loop can be investigated in the circuit diagram of these measurements in Figure 4.3 (a). It is necessary to pass some small amount of current in order to measure the voltage in a circuit; by measuring two pads simultaneously, it is altogether possible that our pads became biased as a result of the measurement feedback. In order to avoid this trouble in the future, we can redesign the measurement as depicted in Figure 4.3 (b). Rather than attempting to measure both pads simultaneously, grounding one pad and measuring the other will eliminate feedback from the measurement itself and simply measure the potential drift of the reference electrode vs. ground. Ultimately, this should yield a more accurate OCV measurement for stability assessment.

Despite the severe drift observed in these OCV measurements, the consistency of potential change over time slope before and after conditioning attempts left hope that the reference electrode potentials may be more stable than what the OCV measurements implied. Even so, this experiment ultimately left us uncertain regarding how we were affecting the local chemical environment of our reference electrodes and, subsequently, their potential stability. Fortunately, after a series of initial transfer sweep measurements on our FET devices while measuring the reference electrode potentials, we discovered an effective method of conditioning the electrodes and reducing potential drift to acceptable levels.

4.3 Conditioning Reference Electrodes with Small Gate Window FET Transfer Sweeps

Early measurements of the quasi-reference electrodes in the FET devices during FET transfer sweeps yielded a rather unexpected result. At first, devices were measured over a gate voltage window limited between -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5 V. The purpose of this was



Figure 4.3: Circuit Diagrams of Open-Circuit Voltage (OCV) Ag Reference Electrode Measurements. (a) Circuit diagram of OCV measurement conducted in this work. Two source measurement units (SMUs) were used to measure voltage at two Ag pads separated by differing distances of PEO:LiClO₄. (b) Circuit diagram of a theoretical redesigned OCV measurement intended to reduce measurement feedback due to multiple simultaneous voltage measurements.

to minimize the possibility of electrochemical reactivity during these measurements while also gathering data from a large enough gate window that would show all of the relevant features in the transfer sweep: the Dirac point as well as the n- and p-branches. Sweeps were initiated by holding the gate bias at -2.5 V for one minute, and then the gate electrode potential was modulated from -2.5 V to 2.5 V and back. The sweeps were only separated in measurement by the 1-minute gate biasing and were otherwise measured continuously. It is also important to note that during these measurements, the back-gate was allowed to float (i.e., not connected to the measurement apparatus).

During these measurements, we noted a monotonic increase in the measured potential of the quasi-reference electrodes of 20 mV per sweep that would eventually saturate at about 400 mV higher than the original measurement. However, we found that after a 24-hour hiatus (during which the device was completely disconnected from the measurement equipment), the measured potential would recover to near its original state as shown in Figure 4.4 (a). Although the recovery was incomplete (the reference electrode potential remained \sim 100 mV more positive than its initial value after the 24-hour hiatus), it led us to consider whether it would be possible to stabilize the reference electrode potential by introducing an extended rest period between each sweep.

Following this evidence, we took transfer measurements with a window of -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5 V across several devices, incorporating a 30-minute rest period between each measurement during which no bias was intentionally held on the devices. Ultimately, introducing this rest period between each individual sweep led to measurements in which the initial reference electrode potential drifted by less than 2 mV per sweep, as shown in Figure 4.4 (b). In addition, we found that, after 24-hours, the potentials of the quasi-reference electrodes would return to within \pm 20 mV of the reading from the previous day. Accordingly, we decided that the 30-minute rest period gave the best trade-off between voltage stability and total measurement time, so we incorporated the rest period into the protocol we adopted for all FET measurements. That is, we included a 30-minute rest period between each measurement in transfer sweep experiments with consecutive sweeps.

Although the exact reason why this reference electrode stabilization method works so effectively is uncertain, we have several hypotheses. Particularly intriguing is the rever-



Figure 4.4: Reference Electrode Drift During FET Measurements with or without Rest Intervals. Representative data comparing reference electrode measured potentials across consecutive sweeps with (a) no rest interval between sweeps, and (b) 30-minute rest intervals between each sweep. Data shown also compares measurement series before and after a 24hour rest period during which contact probes were completely disconnected from devices. Data shown in (a) and (b) are notably from different devices.
sal of the measured potential change between sweeps when comparing measurements with and without rest periods. This suggests that, during the sweeping of the device and the measurement of the quasi-reference electrode, either the channel experiences a net negative electrochemical bias during the sweep, or the quasi-reference electrode becomes increasingly positively charged during the measurement process. It is true that the gate electrode must be biased negatively for a period of time (1-minute in this work) prior to each measurement in order to allow anions to populate near the FET channel; however, the anions should be inducing a positive charge in the channel as opposed to a negative charge. Because the quasi-reference electrode is measured versus ground, and the source electrode is grounded, we would expect the measured reference potential to decrease with each sweep as a result of this measurement; however, it does not do this in the non-resting procedure. Instead, it seems more likely that quasi-reference electrode becomes increasingly positively charged as a result of the measuring process taking place during the experiment.

5.0 Modulating FET Gate Potential while Monitoring Reference Electrode Potential

As this reference electrode and conditioning method together provided acceptably stable reference potential measurements using PEO:LiClO₄ electrolyte, we used it to similar effect under higher side-gate voltage conditions. This tool to measure the system's electrochemical potential relevant to Ag/Ag^+ during FET measurements provided an opportunity to learn more about reactions that could be happening at the FET channel under different gate biases. However, without further information about the gate biases at which these reactions might occur, we required a combination of experiments. The first experiment implemented a progressively increasing gate potential range (a dynamic gate potential window) to identify as precisely as possible the gate potential at which any changes to the graphene channel began to occur. The second cycled over a single gate potential range (a fixed gate potential window) to isolate any transfer characteristic changes caused by reaching a reaction potential from those caused by opening the gate window.

5.1 Dynamic and Fixed Gate Potential Window Measurement Experimental Conditions

Both the dynamic and fixed V_{SG} window experiments were designed with the expectation of lithium intercalation in mind. As a result, all measurements in both experiments started and ended at -2.5V V_{SG} . This value enabled us to consistently capture the Dirac point of the transfer characteristics while reducing measurement times; lithium intercalation was expected to occur at the negative electrochemical biasing of the channel, or (equivalently) the positive electrical biasing of the gate electrode. All measurements were conducted with a sweep rate of 5mV/s and a V_{DS} of 100 mV. This is a relatively slow sweep rate as compared to the back-gated graphene FET device measurements in Figure 3.2 and was selected to reduce the hysteresis of each sweep, reflective of the slow ion mobility in PEO:LiClO₄. As an example, a transfer sweep of -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 7 V would take approximately 1.5 hours including the 30-minute wait, resulting in total experiment times of over 17 hours. The dynamic V_{SG} window experiment was designed to show how the transfer characteristics of the device changed as the maximum V_{SG} increased, so after a change in the device transfer characteristics had been observed the experiment was ended upon reaching time constraints. The fixed V_{SG} window experiment was designed after the results of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment were reviewed; its upper-bound gate potential was selected so as to surely encompass the estimated onset V_{SG} potential of transfer characteristic changes observed in the first experiment, so an additional 2V V_{SG} were added to the identified onset potential as a maximum.

All experimental steps following the fabrication of the devices and the reference electrodes were conducted in one of two environments: an argon glovebox and a high-vacuum probe station. The PEO:LiClO₄ electrolyte was deposited according to a standard procedure (detailed in the Appendix) inside of the argon glovebox, including an anneal step during which excess solvent was evaporated off of the sample. The sample was then enclosed in a pressure-sealed, stainless steel transport case while still in the argon environment, and the case was transported from the glovebox to the probe station. The sample chip was transferred from the case to the probe station under high-vacuum conditions and subsequently sealed inside of the probe station before measurements. Based on the reference electrode conditioning experiments detailed in Section 4.3, we concluded that three conditioning sweeps would be sufficient to prepare the reference electrodes immediately before initiating either experiment. As in the reference electrode conditions experiments, the back-gate was allowed to float throughout these measurements.

5.2 On Interpreting Electrochemical Potential from Reference Electrode Measurements

Ultimately, the goal in this work is to evaluate observed changes in the graphene FET transfer characteristics as a result of increasing the V_{SG} , relate those changes to relevant po-

tentials as measured against the potential of the reference electrode, and evaluate candidate substances or contaminates in the graphene FET system that may have electrochemically reacted to cause said changes. The approach we took with these measurements involved monitoring the reference electrode potential alongside what was otherwise a series of standard FET transfer sweeps. Accordingly, the source was grounded in these measurements, and all other electrodes were either maintained or measured with respect to the potential of the source electrode. As a result, all reference electrode potential measurements in this device are recorded as non-constant values. Despite this, we assume that the reference electrode's absolute potential is unchanging, just as it would be in a more traditional solid-state electrochemical measurement[48, 49]. This assumption asserts that the changing potential measured on the reference electrode could only be a reflection of the changing potential of the ground of the measurement; that is, the changing potential of the source (and, subsequently, the drain and gate) electrode. Interpreted in this manner, we are able to compare the electrochemical potential of the graphene channel as it changes versus the relatively constant potential of the quasi-reference electrode.

5.3 Broad Trends in the Dynamic V_{SG} Window Measurements

Again, our aim with the dynamic V_{SG} window series of measurements was to explore the impact of increasing the gate window size in the positive direction on the FET transfer characteristics on a step-by-step basis. Each opening allowed for the careful observation of any new features or changes to previously existing features. The initial hypothesis for these measurements was to find evidence of lithium intercalation at a gate bias closer to 3 V, and this is reflected in the design of the experiment. Ultimately, we had to increase the V_{SG} window size to 5 V V_{SG} before observing significant changes. As seen in Table 5.1, the first three measurement windows were only increased by 0.5 V from each previous measurement window. However, due to time constraints, it became necessary to increase the window step size to 1 V per sweep. Table 5.1: Sweep Number and Maximum V_{SG} of Dynamic Gate Potential Window Measurements

Sweep Number	$Maximum \ V_{SG}[V]$	
1, 2, 3, 13	2.5	
4	3	
5	3.5	
6	4	
7	5	
8	6	
9	7	
10	8	
11	9	
12 10		

Figure 5.1 shows the data collected during the V_{SG} window expansion portion of the experiment(Sweeps 3 - 12). Due to an over 370% increase in maximum I_D from Sweep 3 (V_{SG} upper-bound of 2.5 V) to Sweep 12 (V_{SG} upper-bound of 10 V), the I_D data are split across Figure 5.1 (a) and Figure 5.1 at Sweep 7 (V_{SG} upper-bound of 5 V, plotted on both (a) and (b) for continuity) to prevent conflicting scaling.

The most striking change in the I_D is the evolution of a ramping current increase as the maximum V_{SG} increases. The sweeps up to 3.5 V V_{SG} (part of Figure 5.1 (a)) demonstrate relatively little I_D change as the V_{SG} window is increased. This is consistent with side- and top-gated graphene EDL FETs in research literature, as they are frequently pushed only to or just past 3 V V_{SG} [24, 25, 26]. However, upon pushing the V_{SG} to the 4.0 V maximum V_{SG} measurement, we begin to see a change evolve as the I_D increases slightly in the reverse sweep. This I_D increase becomes more evident with each subsequent measurement, notably in the very next sweep to a V_{SG} upper-bound of 5.0 V as plotted in Figure 5.1 (a). By the 5.0 V V_{SG} maximum sweep, the maximum I_D has increased from that of the initial 2.5 V



Figure 5.1: Dynamic V_{SG} Window Transfer Characteristics. Complete set of window expansion sweeps (Sweeps 3 - 12) from the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment. All measurements taken at sweep rate of 5 mV/s and V_{DS} of 100 mV. Sweep directions marked with arrows. Increasing sweep number indicated by dark-to-light color gradients. (a) I_D transfer characteristics from Sweeps 3 - 7 (plotted separately to prevent conflicting scaling). (b) I_D transfer characteristics from Sweeps 7 - 12. (c) I_{SG} transfer characteristics. (d) V_{Ref} measured reference potential.

 V_{SG} maximum sweep by 8%, although the I_D at the Dirac point remains unchanged on the forward sweep; this proves that some potential 4.0 V $\leq V_{SG} \leq 5.0$ V causes the increase in I_D . By the final measurement (which pushes the V_{SG} maximum to 10.0 V), the maximum current has increased by 371.8%. and the forward sweep Dirac point current has increased by 26.4% from the initial 2.5 V V_{SG} maximum sweep.

With increased V_{SG} maximums, we see changes in other features of the I_D transfer measurements for this device. For example, it is apparent from Figure 5.1 (b) that the reverse sweeps consistently display an increase in I_D , reach a maximum, then decrease. Particularly interesting is the continued increase in current after the V_{SG} sweep direction has reversed. This may suggest that the sweep rate is too fast to accurately reflect the maximum I_D for a given V_{SG} due to the slow movement of ions. However, it may also suggest that the graphene channel is being reversibly doped as a result of an electrochemical reaction. Both of these hypotheses are reinforced as, by the final measurement, the Dirac points of the forward and reverse sweeps have shifted n-type by different magnitudes; the forward sweep Dirac point has moved by -0.5 V, while the reverse sweep Dirac point has moved by -1 V.

Between the increased I_D and negatively shifted Dirac points in these electrical transfer characteristics, it is evident that there have been changes to the graphene channel of the device. However, with only the dynamic V_{SG} window measurement in hand, it is difficult to distinguish between changes attributable to a specific electrochemically active voltage versus changes that are attributable to the increasing V_{SG} upper-bound. In order to do so, we must also measure and observe any changes over a series of measurements that maintain a consistent V_{SG} window yet still operates comfortably on both sides of the 4–5 V V_{SG} potential of the observations made in this experiment.

5.4 Broad Trends in the Fixed V_{SG} Window Measurements

The fixed V_{SG} window measurements were designed after the dynamic V_{SG} window measurements were taken and used some of the information gathered from the earlier experiment in the design process. By cycling a device at a fixed gate potential window, we ensured that

any collected data reflects changes caused specifically as a result of the device being in a state of gating between 2.5 V and 7.0 V V_{SG}. The bounds of the fixed gate window were chosen to ensure that the 4–5 V V_{SG} range noted as containing a possible electrochemical reaction potential in the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment was included in the measurement. For this experiment, we used a fresh device that had been previously measured only in the range from -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5 V. As shown in Table 5.2, this experiment was comprised of 12 total measurements: 3 conditioning sweeps, 8 sweeps with the V_{SG} window of -2.5 V \leq V_{SG} \leq 7.0 V, and a final sweep mimicking the conditioning sweeps.

Table 5.2: Sweep Number and Maximum V_{SG} of Fixed Gate Potential Window Measurements

Sweep Number	Maximum $V_{SG}[V]$
1, 2, 3, 12	2.5
4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11	7

Figure 5.2 depicts the relevant transfer characteristics for the fixed window sweeps (Sweeps 4 - 11). Similar to the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, I_D (depicted in Figure 5.2 (a)) shows a trend of increasing I_D current; however, unlike in the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, we can attribute the changes observed in these data to the limited V_{SG} window alone. Notably, Sweep 4 (the first experimental sweep in this series) stands out very clearly in the I_D curves; the current does not begin to sharply increase until about 4.5 V V_{SG} ; after this, the I_D increases similarly to the that from the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment. The trend continues as each new sweep leads to an overall increase in I_D current, although the magnitude of I_D change is shown to approach saturation in both the maximum and minimum I_D values in Figure 5.2 (b). The minimum I_D of the fixed V_{SG} window device does not decrease to its original state when the V_{SG} window is reduced to -2.5 V $\leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5$ V in Sweep 12, demonstrating that although the maximum V_{SG} value is a feature of channel doping through high V_{SG} potential, the channel itself has also undergone a lasting decrease in resistivity.



Figure 5.2: Fixed Gate Window Transfer Characteristics. Set of fixed window sweeps (Sweeps 4 - 11) from the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. Sweep 10 has been excluded due to poor contact during measurement. All measurements taken at sweep rate of 5 mV/s and V_{DS} of 100 mV. Sweep directions marked with arrows. Increasing sweep number indicated by dark-to-light color gradients. (a) I_D transfer characteristics. (b) Comparing trends of maximum (stars) and minimum (triangles) I_D values across all 12 sweeps. (c) I_{SG} transfer characteristics. (d) V_{Ref} measured reference potential.

The fixed V_{SG} window experiment also provided the best opportunity to observe the performance of the silver reference electrode. As previously described, many quasi-reference electrodes show potential drift over the course of multiple measurements and extended periods of time. The fixed V_{SG} window experiment provides insight into reference electrode's stability under experimental conditions, as the V_{Ref} can be compared across 8 subsequent measurements of the same V_{SG} window. As seen in Figure 5.3, we can sample V_{Ref} data points from identical V_{SG} potentials present in all experimental sweeps to observe reference potential stability. In the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment (Figure 5.3 (a)), the reverse sweep V_{Ref} data points increase to reflect the increasing V_{SG} maximum on each subsequent sweep. This is demonstrative of polarization of either the reference electrode or the device ground due to the influence of the V_{SG} . The forward sweep data points, not having been exposed to the new V_{SG} maximum since the last experiment, show greater consistency, with standard deviations of less than 40 mV. Contrastingly, the static V_{SG} experimental V_{SG} data shows consistency, reporting a standard deviation of less than 20 mV. These values provide a sense of the voltage drift of our reference electrodes, and both are acceptable for the purposes of our measurements; a < 100 mV potential variation over the course of the full experiment is close enough to distinguish electrochemical reaction potentials.

5.5 Comparing Changes Observed in both FET Transfer Characteristics

As shown in Figure 5.4, most changes to the transfer characteristics of a graphene FET can be identified as one of six transformations: an increase or decrease to the drain current of the device (Figure 5.4 (a)), an increase or decrease in the ON/OFF ratio of the device (Figure 5.4 (b)), or a shifting of the Dirac point resulting from either an n- or p-type doping (Figure 5.4 (c)). In graphene FETs that are carefully isolated from contaminants or exogenous chemical reactions before or during measurements, it is unlikely to observe any of these characteristics as "changes"; instead, the device measured will likely show consistent transfer characteristics throughout the measurement, even if it is already deviating from the "ideal" graphene characteristics outlined in gray in the figure. However, because we are looking for



Figure 5.3: Analysis of V_{Ref} Drift in Dynamic and Fixed V_{SG} Window Experiments. Data points sampled at -2 V and 2 V V_{SG} in both the forward (right-pointing arrows) and reverse (left-pointing arrows) sweeps. (a) Dynamic V_{SG} window experiment V_{Ref} data samples from all window-expansion sweeps (Sweeps 3 - 12). (b) Fixed V_{SG} window experiment V_{Ref} data samples from all -2.5 V $\leq V_{SG} \leq 7.0$ V V_{SG} sweeps (Sweeps 4 - 11).



Figure 5.4: Graphene FET I_D Transfer Characteristic Changes Resulting from Physiochemical Phenomena. Cartoon of FET I_D transfer characteristic transformations resulting from chemical or physical changes to the channel. "Ideal" (native or unreacted) graphene I_D curve outlined in gray. (a) Increase or decrease of the $I_D(b)$ Increase or decrease of the ON/OFF ratio. (c) Dirac point shift resulting from an n-type (left) or p-type (right) doping.

a physical or chemical change in the graphene channel due to lithium intercalation (or any other electrochemical phenomenon), we are expecting to see a change in the transfer characteristics of the graphene FET that reflects those changes. In order to address the changes to the graphene channel, it is necessary to compare data from two equivalent experimental conditions; that is, with two measurements from the same V_{SG} window, sweep rate, and V_{DS} . This was taken into consideration in both experimental designs, as in both experiments a final measurement was conducted at the same V_{SG} bounds as the conditioning sweeps.

The plots shown in Figure 5.5 depict the final conditioning sweep (Sweep 3) from each experiment as the initial state of the FET transfer characteristics, and an identical sweep conducted immediately after both series were concluded (Sweeps 13 and 12 from the dynamic and fixed V_{SG} window experiments, respectively). Four particular changes from the before and after measurements that are identical in direction (if not magnitude) across the two experiments can be identified:

- 1. Increased average drain current
- 2. Negative V_{SG} shifted Dirac points in both forward and reverse sweeps
- 3. Increased ON/OFF ratio
- 4. Negative-shifted and higher slope side gate current

Note that the V_{SG} range in both sets of measurements is identical for each sweep. The implication of these changes (being altered device transfer characteristics from before and after electrical stressing via the V_{SG}) is that an electrochemical reaction has occurred. Identifying possible electrochemical reactions in our experiments relies on the answers of two questions:

- 1. At what electrochemical potential do observed changes to the graphene FET's transfer characteristics occur?
- 2. What compounds and contaminates participating in reactions near that potential may be present in the device and its system?



Figure 5.5: Graphene FET Transfer Measurements Before and After Experiments. The final conditioning sweep (Sweep 3) and the final sweep overall (Sweeps 13 and 12, respectively) from the dynamic and fixed V_{SG} window experiments. All measurements taken at sweep rate of 5 mV/s, V_{DS} of 100 mV, and V_{SG} window of -2.5 V $\leq V_{SG} \leq 2.5$ V. I_D outlined in black, I_{SG} outlined in gold. Final conditioning sweep labeled "Before," final overall sweep labeled "After." Sweep direction indicated with arrows. (a) "Before" and "After" sweeps from the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment. (b) "Before" and "After" sweeps from the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. (inset) Smaller I_D window to depict "Before" fixed V_{SG} window experiment with appropriate scaling.

5.6 Identifying a Likely Electrochemical Reaction Potential

In hopes of confirming and identifying an electrochemical reaction, we returned to the previously identified potential of near 4 V V_{SG} the voltage at which the first apparent change in the I_D curves in both experiments occurred. We will refer to this potential as the "onset potential." The early sweeps from each experiment support this assertion.

Figure 5.6 (a) shows Sweeps 3 - 6 of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment. Of particular note in these measurements is the consistency of the Dirac point potentials and the I_D across the measurements. The most noticeable change from measurement to measurement arises in the reverse sweep of Sweep 6 at about 2 V V_{SG} where a maximum peak just barely begins to surface, evidence of the earliest changes to the I_D slope. More noticeable is the apparent change in I_D magnitude that occurs after Sweep 4 of the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. Figure 5.6 (b) shows the fixed V_{SG} window potential Sweeps 4 and 5, the first and second non-conditioning sweeps of the experiment. The I_D of Sweep 4 remains within 1 µA of the maximum I_D from the conditioning sweeps until, shortly after crossing the onset potential, it begins increasing, ultimately reaching nearly 8 times the maximum I_D of the conditioning sweeps. Most importantly, the I_D does not recover before the next sweep, indicating that a change to the graphene channel has occurred.

To further evaluate the onset potential as a possible electrochemical reaction potential, we compared the onset potential across both experiments to explore its consistency. The plots in Figure 5.7 depict (in black) drain currents from individual sweeps from each experiment. Figure 5.7 (a) and (b) depict the 5 V V_{SG} and 7 V V_{SG} maximum sweeps from the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, respectively. Figure 5.7 (c) depicts the 7 V V_{SG} maximum sweep from the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. The y-axes have been adjusted to maintain visibility of the inflection of the I_D curves, but with identical y-axis window size to maintain scaling across each plot. Comparing the onset potentials from Figure 5.7 (a) and (b), two sweeps from the same experiment, shows that it is remarkably consistent within a single device, with the onset potentials lying at 4.3 V and 4.5 V V_{SG} respectively. The consistency between devices is somewhat weaker, as in Figure 5.7 (c) we can see an onset potential of 3.9 V V_{SG}. Ultimately, we can conclude that the gate bias at which the channel becomes markedly more



Figure 5.6: Evidence Supporting the Onset Potential as a Reaction Potential. Early measurements from both dynamic and fixed V_{SG} window experiments highlighting I_D changes occurring as a result of passing the onset potential. All measurements taken at sweep rate of 5 mV/s and V_{DS} of 100 mV. Sweep direction indicated with arrows. (a) Sweeps 3 - 6 of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment. First observation of I_D current increasing on the reverse sweep circled in gold. (b) Sweeps 4 and 5 of the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. First observation of I_D slope change resulting in subsequent I_D increase across all points circled in gold.



Figure 5.7: Onset Potential vs. V_{SG} . Individual measurements from each experiment compared to evaluate the consistency of the onset potential as related to V_{SG} . All measurements taken at sweep rate of 5 mV/s and V_{DS} of 100 mV. Sweep direction indicated with arrows. Onset potential indicated by blue vertical line. (a) Sweep 7 of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, the first sweep of the experiment to reach 5 V V_{SG} . Onset potential: 4.3 V V_{SG} . (b) Sweep 9 of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, the first sweep of the experiment to reach 7 V V_{SG} . Onset potential: 4.5 V V_{SG} . (c) Sweep 4 of the fixed V_{SG} window experiment, the first sweep of the experiment to reach 7 V V_{SG} . Onset potential: 3.9 V V_{SG} .

conductive is indeed consistent on the order of \pm 600 mV with respect to each onset potential. However, it does not specifically show that an electrochemical reaction is occurring, nor what that reaction might be. Monitoring the side-gate current and the reference electrode potential, respectively, can provide this information.

Like any other FET transfer characteristic feature, the onset potential is natively observed with reference to V_{SG} ; however, in order to properly relate it to any other electrochemical reaction, it must also be correlated to some point of reference. Plotted in Figure 5.8 (a), (b), and (c) depict the exact same sweeps as shown in Figure 5.7. However, instead of plotting the I_D from each measurement versus V_{SG} , the I_D is plotted versus negative V_{Ref} . Similarly, the I_{SG} is negated to reflect the current flowing to the channel. Because the V_{Ref} is measured instead of controlled like V_{SG} , the window size of the x-axes of these plots vary according to the maximum and minimum potentials reached by the reference electrodes.

The I_{SG} data can provide tentative further evidence of establishing the onset potential as a chemical reaction potential. In electrochemical analysis, current measured in the counter electrode is used to evaluate if a chemical reaction has occurred; if the current increases, that is evidence of an ongoing chemical reaction causing the current increase. The situation in our FET devices is somewhat different. There is always a leakage current flowing through the electrolyte between the source, drain, or channel and the gate, and this leakage current can mask current driven by an electrochemical reaction. However, what we can observe is the mild I_{SG} slope change that occurs near the onset potentials. This is most clearly seen in Figure 5.8 (c). The steeper slope reflects an increase of electrons flowing away from the gate, which is exactly what would occur during a reduction reaction at the channel.

In the same manner of plotting, we are able to interpret the electrochemical potential of the source (the ground of the original measurement) as it changes versus the potential of our reference electrode. Figure 5.8 (a), (b), and (c) depict onset potentials of -0.7 V, -0.7 V, and -1.1 V vs Ag/Ag⁺, respectively. Here, we see a \pm 400 mV variation in onset potential between experiments, once again an acceptable reference variation for our purposes. More importantly, this time we can actually relate the potential (through an approximation versus Ag/Ag⁺) to potentials of electrochemical reactions possibly present in these experiments.



Figure 5.8: Onset Potential vs. $-V_{Ref}$. Individual measurements from each experiment compared to evaluate the consistency of the onset potential as related to $-V_{Ref}$. All measurements taken at sweep rate of 5 mV/s and V_{DS} of 100 mV. Sweep direction indicated with arrows. Onset potential indicated by blue vertical line. (a) Sweep 7 of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, the first sweep of the experiment to reach 5 V V_{SG}. Onset potential: -0.7 V vs. Ag/Ag⁺. (b) Sweep 9 of the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment, the first sweep of the experiment to reach 7 V V_{SG}. Onset potential: -0.7 V vs. Ag/Ag⁺. (c) Sweep 4 of the fixed V_{SG} window experiment, the first sweep of the experiment to reach 7 V V_{SG}. Onset potential: -1.1 V vs. Ag/Ag⁺.

5.7 Exploring Possible Electrochemical Reactions

The evidence described in this section suggests that our hypothesis about lithium intercalation (and the popular claim made in the device community) is false. Figure 5.9 outlines electrochemical potentials either of compounds possibly present in the device environments (top, blue) or of observations from the experiments (bottom, yellow) as plotted against Ag/Ag⁺, an estimate of the reference electrode potential in these devices. Given uncertainty of the exact reference potential of reference electrodes (and noting a ~0.4 V difference between the onset potentials from each experiment), we would expect any notable electrochemical potentials, if attributable to the onset potential of changes to the transfer characteristics of the graphene FETs, to at most fall within ± 1 V of the onset potential from each experiment.

Based on this theory, we can eliminate several suspect compounds. Our original hypothesis of lithium intercalation is refuted here; by our measurements, lithium intercalation in graphene was at closest nearly 3 V off from the nearest onset potential, and nearly 2 V away from the closest bound of the potential range of the experiments. A relevant electrochemical phenomena referred to as the formation of the solid electrolyte interphase (SEI) in lithiumion batteries is also shown to occur well outside of our experimental range[66]. Interestingly, the electrochemical stability window of the electrolyte, although not correlated with the onset potential in these experiments, was crossed by the Ag/Ag⁺ metric during the course of this experiment; in fact, it was actually crossed during the conditioning sweeps of the experiment. However, the high stability of the reference potential during the conditioning sweeps suggests that oxidative degradation of the electrolyte is unlikely to be the culprit.

Of particular interest shown here is the equilibrium potential of the hydrogen evolution reaction (HER),

$$2 \operatorname{H}^{+} + 2 \operatorname{e}^{-} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{H}_{2} \tag{5.1}$$

which has (by estimation of the Nernst equation) been calculated to vary roughly in the region depicted in Figure 5.9. It can clearly be seen that this range operates very closely to the onset potentials of both experiments; however, before any sort of conclusion can be drawn, the changes to the graphene channel must be identified and compared to impacts



Figure 5.9: Relevant Electrochemical Potentials. Compilation of relevant experimental potentials (below number line, yellow) and relevant hypothetically related electrochemical potentials (above number line, blue) plotted with reference to Ag/Ag⁺. Blue potential ranges are plotted exactly to appropriate Ag/Ag⁺ ranges [64, 65, 33, 66]. Yellow potential ranges are plotted with \pm 400 mV (indicated by dark-to-light gradient) to note the variation of onset potentials between experiments, as the reference electrode potentials may also vary. on the channel by products or reactants of the hydrogen evolution reaction. Water, for example, can serve as the oxidation half-reaction for HER. Multiple reports demonstrate that the introduction of water to a graphene channel will decrease resistance of the channel as water is adsorbed on the graphene surface, resulting in an increase in I_D magnitude as we see in our experiments[67, 68]. However, these reports indicate resistance decreases on the order of 1-3%, while we see current increases of 30% and 400%, respectively, across the two FETs we studied. In addition, these reports show p-type doping of the channel with the introduction of water, which is contrary to the results we find in our work.

PMMA is a well known contaminant in many 2D FETs, as it is a very commonly used electron beam lithography resist in the fabrication process and notoriously difficult to remove completely [44, 45, 46]. One study breaks down the effects of PMMA on graphene FETs, attempting to anneal the devices to remove the PMMA, then reintroducing it and remeasuring the devices [47]. Chan et al. demonstrate that the removal of PMMA leads to an n-type doping of the device and an increase in conductivity. Although it is not addressed in the paper, some of the plotted data from Chan et al. suggests an increase in ON/OFF ratio upon the removal of PMMA as well. However, the electrochemical stability window of PMMA does not closely align with the onset potential from our experiments, as several groups report an electrochemical stability window for a PMMA based gel-polymer electrolyte of up to 4.9 V vs. Li/Li⁺. This range completely envelopes the entire range of measured electrochemical potential of our experiments [69, 70, 71]. This demonstrates that, for PMMA to be the major contributor to the changes to the graphene channel, the potential of our quasi-reference electrodes would have to be at least 2 V more positive versus Ag/Ag⁺ than currently assumed. By comparison to other Ag/Ag^+ reference electrodes with $LiClO_4$ as a supporting electrolyte[59], we expect that the reference electrode will vary from Ag/Ag^+ no more than 80 mV, so this seems unlikely.

Interference of the measurement by means of silver contamination is possible in this work, but unlikely. One recent study by Iqbal et al. has reported that the introduction of silver nanoparticles leads to n-type doping of graphene FETs as well as an increase in conductivity[72]. However, the increase in conductivity reported does not show an increase across all data points of the measurement V_{SG} window as shown in our work, nor do the

reports show consistent increases to the ON/OFF ratio as seen in our results. In addition, although the Ag/Ag^+ reduction potential was crossed during measurement, the crossing occurred as early as the conditioning portion of both experiments, reducing the likelihood of silver contamination causing the features observed as a result of the onset potentials. Future work to evaluate this possibility could do so by simply replicating this work without the presence of silver reference electrodes to investigate if the transfer characteristic changes were replicated.

All of the previously addressed reactions assume that a component or contaminant in the device is the reaction culprit, but it is possible that the electrochemical reaction could involve graphene itself. One example of this is the reduction of oxidized defects in the graphene channel. Graphene oxide is reported to reduce to graphene at -0.948 V versus Ag/Ag^+ , lying between the onset potentials from both experiments[73]. It has also been demonstrated to increase in conductivity by an order of magnitude after reduction, similar to our results[74]. While it is unlikely that the I_D increase we observed was caused entirely by graphene oxide reduction (as we used graphene flakes and not graphene oxide flakes for our channels), it is quite likely that a similar reaction would have contributed to our observations.

Ultimately, this analysis does not not yield wholly conclusive evidence, nor is it able to do so without additional investigations. In fact, it is entirely possible that several of the compounds described here are impacting the graphene FET transfer characteristic changes simultaneously. What we are able to do conclusively is eliminate candidates as major contributors to the results we observed. In this manner, it is clear that our original hypothesis—that lithium intercalation in the graphene channel caused changes to the FET transfer characteristics seen at higher V_{SG} — is highly unlikely.

6.0 Conclusions and Future Work

Understanding the electrochemical reactions of EDL FETs is crucial for the development of the field and its future technologies. Knowledge of electrochemical action in EDL FETs may reveal interesting and useful chemistry for devices comprised of different channel materials and electrolytes. Some researchers already claim that observed increases in channel conductivity result from electrochemistry, yet use no analytical techniques to identify specific reactions at play[13, 14]. A more complete understanding of electrochemistry in these systems will allow us to develop the EDL FET field faster as a result of intentional design, as well to avoid the pitfalls of unintentional and interfering electrochemistry.

In the work presented here, the electrochemical potentials that we observed alongside lasting changes in FET transfer characteristics are inconsistent with lithium intercalation in graphene. This begs the question: what electrochemical reaction or reactions are happening in the devices? To answer this question more completely, more research is necessary. Future work in identifying electrochemical reactions in EDL FETs will most heavily rely on optimization of the reference electrode. Particularly, the noted difference of approximately 0.4 V between the onset potentials from each experiment calls the consistency of reference potentials between devices into question. A consistent onset potential between multiple devices is necessary to confirm if the same chemical reaction is occurring in each device, and, given that both of these devices were fabricated at the same time, from the same graphene exfoliation, on the same substrate, it is unlikely that the onset potentials measured result from two entirely different reactions. As discussed in Section 5.7, this suggests that the difference in onset potentials between devices is instead the result of variation between reference electrodes. In the same line of thought, I have two hypotheses for the difference between onset potentials observed in this work.

This first is that the varying positions of the gate, source, and drain electrodes relative to the reference electrodes resulted in different polarizations of the reference electrodes. Other researchers have shown that, in solid electrolyte cells, electrode geometric orientation and positioning (relative to other electrodes) can have result in polarization of reference electrode[75, 76, 77]. In the same vein, it is possible that our reference electrodes are polarizing versus the gate, source, or drain electrodes, resulting in an inconsistent V_{Ref} between different devices due to their differing electrode layouts necessitated by graphene flake size and shape. We could explore this possibility by fabricating graphene EDL FETs from nearidentical CVD-grown graphene channels[78], although it should be noted that these would introduce unique electrochemical features of their own[42, 43]. Such channels would allow the gate, source, drain, and reference electrodes to all be produced with identical positioning across multiple devices; whether the static V_{SG} window experiment produces similar onset potential data from device to device or not, we will know confidently if the electrode positioning impacted these results.

My second hypothesis regarding the difference in onset potentials between devices is that it results from a PEO:LiClO₄ deposition in which LiClO₄ concentration varies across grain boundaries in the solid polymer electrolyte. Quasi-reference electrodes are frequently sensitive to ion concentration[48, 49], so it would be unsurprising to observe this occurrence if there is in fact ion concentration variation across grain boundaries. By fabricating multiple devices close enough together to rely on the same reference electrode, we could maintain the exact same local chemical environment for the reference electrode. I believe EDL graphene FETs like those used in this work could likely fit within 500 µm apart with relatively little fabrication difficulty and still rely on the same reference electrode in between the devices. We could then replicated the fixed V_{SG} window measurement on the device pairs and compare the onset potentials in each device. If the onset potential varies between device pairs but not between paired devices, we will have demonstrated that varying ion concentration across grain boundaries of the electrolyte affects reference electrode potential.

However, fabricating a silver quasi-reference electrode in the EDL FET design is just the first step in developing this understanding. As mentioned in Section 4.1, silver has drawbacks[63] when implemented in FET devices, and it would be ideal to identify a reference electrode material that has similarly simple and familiar implementation. An ideal reference electrode material in this sense would lend itself to typical 2D FET fabrication techniques (e-beam lithography, metal deposition, etc.) and possess a resistance to electromigration. I have not yet identified a material that will fit this ideal, but I am interested in attempting to implement lithium iron phosphate (LFP) with 2D crystal EDL FETs similar to its use in the work of Sharbati et al[18]. Although LFP is deposited as a film rather than a metal electrode, it has been shown to hold remarkable potential reproducibility (\pm 3 mV) across multiple identical experiments. Depending on LFP's likelihood of ion contamination in PEO:LiClO₄ (which could be tested by replicating the fixed V_{SG} window experiment with an LFP reference electrode instead of a silver quasi-reference electrode and comparing the results to those shown in Figure 5.5 (b)), it may provide the best step forward for this work.

In regards to identifying the electrochemical reaction present in this study, I have found more evidence to refute possible reactions than to corroborate them. It is my belief that a sort of ill-defined electrochemical reaction (possibly a graphene defect being reduced, for example) is occurring in these samples, and, unless such a reaction is identified in other graphene research, I do not expect anyone else in the 2D EDL FET community to seek out the answer any time soon. In order to identify the reaction occurring in these (or new, similarly constructed devices), I propose to conduct in situ Raman measurements through the duration of the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. In situ Raman measurements may reveal chemical composition changes to corroborate reference electrode measurements and, when Raman, transfer characteristics, and reference potentials are compared across the onset potential, we will have a sense of the chemical changes occurring in the device before and after the onset potential. We could also use the Raman data from subsequent sweeps to observe the buildup of chemical changes that I expect to see due to the increasing I_D observed with each new sweep in the fixed V_{SG} window experiment. For example, Raman shifts have been observed as a result of the reduction of graphene oxide [79] that we could compare our results against. It is possible that the reactions we would seek to observe are occurring in different key locations along the device— at the Au contacts, in the bulk of the channel, or along the channel edges, particularly— so I would suggest targeting these locations. Previous research has shown that Raman can be performed on a working FET coated with $PEO:LiClO_4[80, 81]$, so the measurement should be able to be taken during operation even in the presence of the solid polymer electrolyte.

Note that the onset potentials identified in this research are specific to this EDL FET system; that is, attempting the same measurements with devices made from a different chan-

nel material, a different electrolyte, or both, may result in different changes in the transfer characteristic at different onset potentials. This is because changing these components of the EDL FET fundamentally changes the reactants that are available to undergo irreversible electrochemical reactions. In order to identify and use (or avoid) the onset potential of any electrochemical reaction in an EDL FET, it will likely be necessary to identify onset potentials of reactions for each combination of channel material and electrolyte. Moreover, each new combination of reference electrode and electrolyte will require calibration with some known electrochemical potential.

A thorough understanding of how to execute electrochemical measurements of 2D EDL FETs will provide both the opportunity to discover interesting new material properties as well as the ability to better understand what happened to a device when things have gone wrong. Learning more about the chemistry of graphene or any other 2D crystal channel is an obvious benefit, but the ability to chemically alter a channel's chemistry will provide an all-new knob with which we can tune a device's properties even after fabrication. As an example, the increased conductivity and ON/OFF ratio observed in this work would benefit a device aiming for low-energy applications; it is likely that many application-centric device design principles could incorporate post-fabrication electrochemical preparation steps if only the electrochemistry in the devices were more completely understood. With a reference electrode integrated in EDL FET design, the research question eventually changes from "What exactly is driving the changes?" to "How can we use that information to design better EDL FETs?"

Appendix A Experimental Protocol and Conditions

The intention of this appendix is to provide a description of each step of the device fabrication and measurement methods with representative protocol. My hope and goal with these descriptions is (1) to provide a clear understanding of the various details of my efforts specific to the research detailed in this thesis, and (2) to create a useful reference for some of the basic methods I have used in my device research experience.

A.1 Si/SiO₂ Substrate Preparation

A 100 mm diameter, p-doped, $\langle 100 \rangle$ oriented silicon substrate with a 90 nm SiO₂ toplayer from University Wafer was diced into sample chips approximately 1 cm square. The chips were cleaned with a 10 second rinse in acetone followed immediately (before the acetone dried) with a 10 second rinse with isopropyl alcohol (IPA). The IPA was then immediately blown off with a N₂ gun. I have previously cleaned chips with a final step in deionized water, but I have not had any indication that the water has aided the removal of any contaminants and subsequently discontinued this practice.

The chips were then O_2 plasma cleaned with a South Bay Technology PC 2000 RF Plasma Cleaner to eliminate any remaining organic contaminants on the surface of the substrates. The specifications for the cleaning were as follows: power, 50 W; O_2 flow rate, 10 sccm; time, 1 minute; pressure, 200 mTorr. This process was not strictly necessary for these chips. The Fullerton lab has since developed a method for marker deposition that significantly reduces electron beam lithography time by depositing a less-dense marker field using a maskless aligner process; however, the maskless aligner process requires the substrate to be plasma cleaned due to its use of photoresist that does not remove easily with solvents. I included the plasma cleaning step with my sample chips with the expectation that, by the time the new method was developed, I would still need to exfoliate more graphene and wanted a consistently treated substrate. Ultimately, this was unnecessary.

A.2 Fabricating Sample Reference Electrode Pads for Open-Circuit Voltage Measurements

To observe the potential stability of silver in PEO:LiClO₄ solid polymer electrolyte, I fabricated pairs of 100 µm square silver pads at distances of 10 µm, 100 µm, and 1000 µm distances apart. I designed the pads in KLayout and used photolithography and metal deposition to fabricate them. For devices that can be fabricated with an approximately 1 µm resolution and can be either plasma cleaned post-fabrication or will not be significantly affected by contaminant photoresist, a maskless aligner (I used the Heidelberg MLA 100) offers a very fast lithographic step when compared to EBL or standard UV mask exposure methods. After the MLA step, I used a PLASSYS Electron Beam Evaporator MEB550S to deposit 5 nm of Ti followed by 150 nm of Ag. The purpose of the 150 nm thickness was to protect the pads from landing probes before measurement; the thickness can be reduced to as low as 100 nm or perhaps even 50 nm depending on the material, but the pad becomes much more susceptible to damage from probe landing as a result. After the fabrication of these pads, the deposition procedure from Section A.8 was followed to embed the silver pads in PEO:LiClO₄.

A.3 Open-Circuit Voltage Measurements on Sample Reference Electrodes and Conditioning

I have already noted that the open-circuit voltage measurements I attempted with silver pads in PEO:LiClO₄ were likely impacted by a feedback loop due to the measurement configuration. To be specific, each measurement was conducted with a probe landed on each of a pair of silver pads. Each of the probes was connected to a separate SMU channel, and each channel was designated to measure voltage versus ground for 60 seconds.

Following these measurements, I attempted to electrochemically condition the silver pads with the goal of building a robust layer of $AgClO_4$ salt on the surfaces of the pads. This was done by biasing the pads against each other in a square wave pattern centered about 0 V. The idea was to drive reduction and oxidation reactions of Ag on each pad symmetrically with the expectation that the two pads would develop similar chemical environments and subsequently similar potentials. This conditioning process was attempted with pairs of pads, denoted here as Pad 1 and Pad 2. The voltage pulse cycle is outlined in Table A1 and was repeated for 10 cycles.

Step	Pad 1	Pad 2	Time
1	$0.5 \mathrm{V}$	0 V	10 s
2	-0.5 V	0 V	10 s
3	0 V	0.5 V	10 s
4	0 V	-0.5 V	10 s

Table A1: Ag Pad Conditioning Attempt Cycle

A.4 Few-Layer Graphene Mechanical Exfoliation

We store the majority of our 2D crystal sources inside of an argon glovebox in order to reduce source contact with oxygen and water. From within the Ar glovebox, a small sample of graphene was removed from a source crystal with wafer dicing tape. The tape sample was removed from the glovebox via a petri dish, and another piece of 18074 tape was used to remove a small flake of the sample graphene. This final sample tape was folded onto itself, with each fold contacting the opposing side of the tape and transplanting graphene from one side of the tape to the other. The process was repeated until the graphene was barely visible to the human eye on both sides of the sample tape, presenting itself as a cloud on the tape. The sample tape was then placed on a clean silcon chip (from Section A.1), and the back of the tape was gently rubbed with a pencil eraser. The tape was slowly removed from the substrate, leaving behind a field of exfoliated graphene flakes. There are many types of tapes that can be used for this process, and I have found that different tapes have different efficacies for different types of 2D crystals. Graphene, in particular, has shown good flake density yields from 18074 Blue Medium Adhesion standard dicing tape, and so I used this tape here.

The sample chip was placed under an optical microscope, and suitable flakes were identified by color approximation (see Figure A1). Typically, with this substrate, graphene flakes will show optical coloration changes related to their relative thicknesses (in terms of layers), and this can be used to approximate flake suitability for devices by coloration. I have found that nearly translucent gray flakes are 1 or 2 layers thick, gray flakes are 2 - 5 layers thick, and dark gray flakes are 5 - 10 layers thick. Approximate positions of gray and dark gray flakes of suitable length and width were noted.

Access time and cost limitations during electron beam lithography for marker field deposition (described in Section A.5) required that I identify the areas of the sample chip with the highest density of candidate channel flakes. As a part of the optical imaging process, I noted a general sense of where the graphene flakes were closest to each other. I limited the marker field to an approximately 4 mm square area, giving me the ability to capture about a quarter of my sample chip's surface area in a marker field that could be used to align electrode placement to a candidate channel.

A.5 Designing and Depositing Alignment Markers and Marker Field

A candidate channel crystal flake cannot accurately be fabricated into a device without some sort of alignment grid for the electron beam lithography (EBL) step. There are multiple



Figure A1: Estimating Graphene Flake Thicknesses. Shown is a 20x optical microscope image of graphene flakes mechanically exfoliated on Si/SiO_2 substrate. Circled in black are examples of graphene flakes and an estimation of their thicknesses based on coloration.

ways to do this, but the method I chose for this work— due to my familiarity and consistency of results— was to use EBL after flake exfoliation to make a field of markers for flake location and electrode design alignment. The sample chip was spin-coated with 950 PMMA A4 ebeam resist and annealed on a hotplate at 180 °C for 3 minutes in atmospheric conditions to ensure the resist held tightly to the sample. The sample chip was then loaded into a Raith e-LiNE (EBL) station. The coordinate placement of the alignment field was chosen to cover the region of the sample chip containing the highest number of suitable graphene flakes. The pattern was written with a beam dosage of $150 \,\mu\text{A}\,\text{s}\,\text{cm}^{-2}$.

After the writing step, the sample chip was removed from the EBL station and loaded into a PLASSYS Electron Beam Evaporation System. At 8×10^{-7} mbar, a 5 nm thick film of Ti was deposited to serve as an adhesion layer to the SiO₂ top-layer of the substrate. 45 nm of Au was then deposited to cap the field and alignment markers of the sample chip.

The sample chip was then removed from the evaporator and placed overnight in an acetone bath for liftoff. The following day, the chip was suspended in the acetone with a pair of tweezers while a micropipette was used to generate a gentle pressure in the acetone bath to remove or "lift off" the excess Ti/Au plating, leaving Ti/Au markers behind.

A.6 Designing and Depositing Gate, Source, Drain, and Reference Electrodes

The sample chip with its alignment marker field was viewed under an optical microscope, and optical images were taken at 20x zoom of each identified candidate graphene flake such that the centers of the surrounding four Au field markers were visible. These images were used with KLayout software to design contacting electrodes (the source and drain electrodes) overlaid across candidate graphene flakes such that the electrode ends were parallel to each other and crossed the entire flake across the flake's narrowest dimension (see Figure A2). The ends of each electrode were 10 μ m long and 2 μ m wide. 100 μ m square pads (intended for landing probes during measurements) were positioned at distances of at least 150 μ m away from the graphene flake, and the pad was connected to the electrode ends. During this design step, care was taken to avoid connecting the source and drain electrodes to each other (or, later, to the gate or reference electrodes) by graphene or a Au marker.

The gate electrodes were positioned such that the electrode ends were $3 \mu m$ away from the source and drain electrodes and on the opposite side of the channel unless markers or other graphene flakes forced the source or drain to be positioned on opposite sides of the channel. The gate electrode ends were designed to be as wide as the device channel and $2 \mu m$ long. Similarly to the source and drain electrodes, the gate electrode ends were connected to 100 μm square pads.

Following the same procedures from Section A.5 (with the exception of depositing 150 nm of Au instead of 45 nm), the gate, source, and drain electrodes were deposited. The devices were then re-imaged using the same optical microscope process described previously, and reference electrodes were designed for each device (see Figure A3). These electrodes were positioned equidistant from the source and drain, with similarly designed ends placed 10 µm from the channel. The reference electrodes were deposited in the same manner as the procedures described in Section A.5, except using Ag instead of Au.



Figure A2: Laying Out Gate, Source, and Drain Electrodes for Graphene FET. Images demonstrating the electrode designing process for a single device. (a) Optical image of candidate channel flake with surrounding alignment markers. (b) KLayout overlay matching alignment markers to the coordinate system and showing electrodes designed around graphene flake. (c) KLayout overlay zoomed out to show electrode pad orientations and designs. (d) KLayout overlay zoomed in to show source and drain electrode positioning across graphene flake and gate electrode avoiding alignment marker.



Figure A3: Laying Out Reference Electrode for Graphene FET. Images demonstrating the electrode designing process for a single device. (a) Optical image of graphene FET with surrounding alignment markers. (b) KLayout overlay matching alignment markers and gate, source, and drain electrodes to the coordinate system and showing reference electrode (in orange) electrode designed between source and drain electrodes. (c) KLayout overlay zoomed out to show electrode pad orientations and designs. (d) KLayout overlay zoomed in to show reference electrode end positioning between source and drain electrodes and distance from the graphene channel.

A.7 Preparing Device Sample Chip Inside Glovebox for Transport to Probe Station

Securing a sample chip to a probe station sample chuck from inside the glovebox requires some preparatory steps. The first of these is the preparation of Kapton tape slivers to secure the chip to the sample chuck. Kapton tape slivers were prepared by unrolling a section of 5 mm tape onto a desk surface and slicing approximately 2 - 3 mm wide slivers with a razor blade. The tape slivers are usually stuck on the inside surface of a small petri dish. I also frequently use a permanent marker to mark a large O on the outside surface of the petri dish bottom and a large X on the petri dish top. This allows the glovebox user to note, at a glance, if a selection of tape slivers is unused (from the O dish), and provides a receptacle for used and ready-to-be-disposed tape slivers (the X dish). The petri dish was then loaded into the glovebox. When ready to be measured, the sample chip was attached to the sample chuck with two tape slivers crossing the corners of the chip. The sample chip and chuck were then loaded into a LakeShore CRX-VF Probe Station via a transfer case and loadlock to eliminate atmospheric contamination.

A.8 Preparing and Depositing PEO:LiClO₄ Solution

The goal was to prepare a 1 wt.% solution of PEO:LiClO₄ in acetonitrile (ACN) with a 20:1 ether oxygen to Li⁺ ratio from within the Ar glovebox. Anecdotally, I have been told that this electrolyte can be tempermental during deposition outside of this weight percent and ether oxygen ratio combination, so I was willing to be flexible with the exactness of these values as long as the deposition (on a spare chip to test first) went smoothly. With perfect measurements, this would require 100 mg of PEO, 12.1 mg of LiClO₄, and 11.21 g of ACN. An example preparation proceeded as follows: using a Mettler Toledo 104 TS mass balance inside the argon glovebox, I tared a 100 mL vial, added 98.8 mg of PEO powder, tared the balance, added 12.7 mg of LiClO₄, and tared the balance once more to add 11.2176 g of ACN. This resulted in a 0.98 wt.% solution of PEO:LiClO₄ in ACN with an 18.8:1 ether
oxygen to Li^+ ratio. I would have considered making a new solution if the ether oxygen to Li^+ ratio were lower than 10:1.

To deposit the electrolyte on the sample inside of the Ar glovebox, the Si substrate was placed on a room temperature hot plate and 35 µL of the polymer electrolyte were dropcasted on the surface of the chip with a micropipette. The ACN was allowed to evaporate from the chip for 10 minutes before the chip was removed from the hot plate; then the hot plate was set to 80 °C, allowed to come to temperature, and the chip was replaced on the hot plate for 3 minutes of annealing. Samples prepared in this manner were transferred to the probe station via a hermetically-sealed transfer case and a vacuum-enabled load-lock to prevent atmospheric exposure before and during measurement.

A.9 Onset Potential Identification Protocol

The onset potentials from the dynamic and fixed V_{SG} window experiments can be evaluated qualitatively, but to quantify their values, I created a methodology for pinpointing the onset potential data point (see Figure A4). I first used OriginPro data analysis and plotting software to make a line of best fit of the region of the data after the Dirac point and before the onset potential in the forward sweep. I took the absolute value of the difference between each experimental data point and its predicted value from the line of best fit. Naturally, since the line of best fit was targeted for the linear region of each sweep between the Dirac point and the onset potential in the forward sweep, the value of this metric was highest before the linear region and after the onset potential. Using Microsoft Excel, I then parsed the data for the first data point at which the difference was less than 10 nA and was followed by at least 1000 data points at which the difference was greater than 10 nA. This condition is how I have defined onset potential in this system. In the example in Figure A4, the onset potential is 3.918 V.



Figure A4: Process for Identifying the Onset Potential. (a) A depiction of the line-fitting of the region between the Dirac point and onset potential of Sweep 7 from the dynamic V_{SG} window experiment. The line was fit from 1.5 V V_{SG} to 2.5 V V_{SG} . (b) Screenshot from the Excel spreadsheet used to identify the onset potential. Column E contains the data point values predicted by the line of best fit in the region before the onset potential. Column F contains the absolute value of the data point values predicted by the line of best fit (Column E) minus the measured values from the drain current (Column C). Data point 3211 is the first point to satisfy the condition that this difference is ≤ 10 nA and is followed by at least 1000 data points for which the difference is ≥ 10 nA. This condition is how I have defined onset potential.

A.10 Nernst Equation Estimation for Hydrogen Evolution Reaction in this System

In Figure 5.9, I used a calculated range for the Hydrogen Evolution Reaction (HER). This value was estimated for the EDL FET system under vacuum during measurement and following the Nernst equation,

$$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{E}^0 - \left(\frac{RT}{2F}\right) \ln \left(\frac{[\mathbf{H}_2]}{[\mathbf{H}^+]^2}\right) \tag{A.1}$$

The values were taken as follows:

$$E^{0} = 0$$
 V vs. RHE
 $T = 298.15$ K
 $R = 8.314 \text{ J K}^{-1} \text{ mol}^{-1}$
 $F = 96 485.33 \text{ C mol}^{-1}$
 $[\text{H}_{2}] \approx \frac{P_{H_{2}}}{P_{H_{2},\text{ref}}} = \frac{8 \times 10^{-7} \text{ Torr}}{760 \text{ Torr}}$ where 8×10^{-7} Torr is the pressure in vacuum chamber
 $[\text{H}^{+}] = 10^{-7}$ for 7 pH, 10^{-12} for 12 pH

The H_2 concentration is approximated by the assumption that, by generating H_2 , the background H_2 pressure will very quickly approach the background pressure of the instrument vacuum. The pH range shown here is roughly estimated as the range for the steady-state local concentration of protons under continuous HER conditions.

Appendix B Paper Insert

Electric Double-Layer Gating of Two-Dimensional Field-Effect Transistors Using a Single-Ion Conductor

Ke Xu,^{*,†,||}[®] Jierui Liang,^{†,||}[®] Aaron Woeppel,[†] M. Eli Bostian,[†] Hangjun Ding,^{†,‡} Zhongmou Chao,[†][®] James R. McKone,[†][®] Eric J. Beckman,^{†,‡} and Susan K. Fullerton-Shirey^{*,†,§}[®]

[†]Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering, [‡]Mascaro Center for Sustainable Innovation, and [§]Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15260, United States

Supporting Information

ACS APPLIED MATERIALS



ABSTRACT: Electric double-layer (EDL) gating using a custom-synthesized polyester single-ion conductor (PE400-Li) is demonstrated on two-dimensional (2D) crystals for the first time. The electronic properties of graphene and MoTe₂ field-effect transistors (FETs) gated with the single-ion conductor are directly compared to a poly(ethylene oxide) dual-ion conductor (PEO:CsClO₄). The anions in the single-ion conductor are covalently bound to the backbone of the polymer, leaving only the cations free to form an EDL at the negative electrode and a corresponding cationic depletion layer at the positive electrode. Because the cations are mobile in both the single- and dual-ion conductors, a similar enhancement of the n-branch is observed in both graphene and MoTe₂. Specifically, the single-ion conductor decreases the subthreshold swing in the n-branch of the bare MoTe₂ FET from 5000 to 250 mV/dec and increases the current density and on/off ratio by two orders of magnitude. However, the single-ion conductor suppressed the p-branch in both the graphene and the MoTe₂ FETs, and finite element modeling of ion transport shows that this result is unique to single-ion conductor gating in combination with an asymmetric gate/channel geometry. Both the experiments and modeling suggest that single-ion conductor-gated FETs can achieve sheet densities up to 10^{14} cm⁻², which corresponds to a charge density that would theoretically be sufficient to induce several percent strain in monolayer 2D crystals and potentially induce a semiconductor-to-metal phase transition in MoTe₂.

KEYWORDS: electric double layer, ion gating, two-dimensional, single-ion conductor, field-effect transistor, EDLT, iontronics

INTRODUCTION

Similar to conventional semiconductor materials such as silicon,^{1,2} the electrical and optical properties of two-dimensional (2D) crystals can be strongly influenced by strain. For example, strain can transform 2D semiconductors from indirect to direct band gap materials with enhanced radiative efficiencies³ or tune the emission wavelength of the 2D crystals.^{4,5} In addition, monolayer 2D transition-metal dichalcogenides (TMDs) such as Mo- and W-dichalcogenide van der Waals crystals are predicted to undergo a complete phase change from the semiconducting 2H phase to the metallic 1T' under strain.^{6,7} Experimentally, phase transitions in MoTe₂ have been demonstrated by inducing local strain using an atomic force microscope (AFM) tip⁸ and more recently, by inducing global strain via an electric field applied to a ferroelectric substrate in contact with MoTe₂.⁹

Dynamically tuning the band gap in 2D crystals is not only fundamentally interesting but could be useful for applications such as low-voltage transistors^{10–12} and flexible electronics.^{13,14} For these applications, it would be desirable to create a gate dielectric that can be deposited at low temperatures, achieve large gate capacitance (e.g., 1–4 μ F/cm²),^{15,16} and induce strain locally via field effect.

To address this need, we propose a new concept: a singleion conductor electric double-layer transistor (EDLT) based on 2D crystals. Our approach is unique compared with EDL gating with dual-ion conductors (i.e., those with mobile cations and anions), which are commonly used for electronic and

Received: July 1, 2019 Accepted: September 5, 2019 Published: September 5, 2019



Figure 1. (a) Schematic of a 2D crystal FET (either graphene or MoTe₂) that can be operated by using a back gate or a single/dual-ion conductor using a metal side gate. (b) Chemical structures of the dual- and single-ion conductors: PEO:CsClO₄ (top row) and the ionically functionalized polyester (PE400-Li) (bottom row), respectively. Anions are shaded in red and cations are shaded in blue. Schematics of the (c) dual-ion conducting and (d) single-ion conducting FETs under two polarities. In the single-ion case, only cations are mobile while the anions are bound to the polymer backbone and therefore fixed. This immobility leads to cationic depletion regions (shaded in pink) at either the gate/single-ion conductor ($V_G > 0$) or single-ion conductor/semiconductor interface ($V_G < 0$), depending on the polarity of the applied field.

optoelectronic device studies.^{17–21} Moreover, a wide variety of EDLTs have been demonstrated on 2D crystals.^{15,16,22} Dual-ion conductors can induce charge densities on the order of $\sim 10^{14}$ cm⁻² for electrons and holes.^{26,27} This corresponds to a capacitance density up to $10 \,\mu\text{F/cm}^2$ and a large electric field strength of \sim V/nm at the interface, allowing access to regimes of transport in semiconductors that cannot be achieved with conventional gate dielectrics.^{25,28,29} In contrast to a dual-ion conductor, the anions of a single-ion conductor, or ionomer, are covalently bound to the backbone of the polymer, leaving only the cations free to move in response to an applied field. When polarized, an EDL consisting of densely packed cations is created at the negative electrode, but there is no corresponding anionic EDL at the positive electrode. In response to this imbalance, one side of the single-ion conductor (near the negative electrode) undergoes longitudinal expansion. The mechanism to induce strain using singleion conductors has been well investigated for ionic polymer metal composites (IPMCs), which are useful for biomimetic actuators and artificial muscles.³⁰ In electronics, single-ion conductors have been used previously to gate organic $\ensuremath{\mathsf{transistors}}^{31-33}$ where the motivation for immobilizing one ion over the other was to avoid electrochemical reactions within the organic channel. To our knowledge, there has been no report directly comparing single- and dual-ion conductors with similar chemistries in the same 2D crystal FETs or distinguishing the electrostatic gating effects between cationic EDLs and cationic depletion layers on 2D crystals.

We present the first demonstration of a single-ion conductor multilayer 2D crystal EDLT and lay the groundwork for demonstrating flexible 2D FETs with new functionalities induced by an EDL via strain. Experimentally, we used an ionically functionalized polyester (created via the condensation of poly(ethylene glycol) oligomers with dimethyl 5-sulfoisophthalate salt³⁴) to electrostatically gate both graphene and MoTe₂ FETs. Compared with back gating through SiO₂, transfer characteristics using a side gate to control the location

of the ions within both the single- and dual-ion conductors reveal a comparable enhancement of the n-branch current (e.g., 20-fold improvement of subthreshold swing and two orders of magnitude increase in on/off for MoTe₂ FETs). The dual-ion conductor gating results agree well with previous reports.^{16,25,26,35} However, unlike the dual-ion conductor, the single-ion conductor quenches the p-branch in graphene and MoTe₂ FETs, which has not been reported before. Finite element modeling of ion transport in response to an applied field shows that the p-branch quenching is unique to single-ion conductor gating via the formation of a cationic depletion region (as opposed to an anionic EDL) in combination with an asymmetric gate/channel geometry. Both the experiments and modeling suggest that single-ion conductor-gated FETs can achieve sheet densities up to 10^{14} cm⁻², which could possibly induce sufficient strain to access the strain-induced electronic and optoelectronic properties described above.^{36,3}

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The EDL-gated multilayer 2D crystal FETs use a side-gate geometry, as shown in Figure 1a. Graphene and MoTe₂ were mechanically exfoliated onto a p-doped Si substrate with 90 nm SiO_2 (used as a back gate). The source/drain and gate contacts (Ti/Au) were patterned by electron beam lithography (EBL) with the side gate located 10 μ m away from the channel. The solid-state single-ion conductor is poly(ethylene glycol benzene-1,3-dicarboxylate-5-sulfoisophthalate lithium), abbreviated as PE400-Li, and the solid-state dual-ion conductor is poly(ethylene oxide), abbreviated as (PEO):CsClO₄ The chemical structures of the dual- and single-ion conductors are similar and shown in Figure 1b. The PE400-Li is a polyester with each repeat unit consisting of the ionic group, namely, dicarboxylic 5-sulfoisophthalate, and a spacer of poly(ethylene glycol) 400, which provides the same repeat unit as PEO.³⁴ Unlike PEO:CsClO₄ where the anion, ClO_4^- , is free to respond to the applied field, the negatively charged functional group (SO_3^{-}) in PE400-Li is covalently bound to the polymer backbone, while the cation Li⁺ is free to move under an applied field. The ether oxygen to cation molar ratios are 76:1 for the dual-ion conductors and 9:1 for the single-ion conductors. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) shows that the single-ion conductor has a markedly higher glass transition temperature ($T_g = 14.5$ °C) than the PEO:CsClO₄ electrolyte ($T_g = -31.5$ °C) (Figure S1, Supporting Information), which is consistent with the single-ion conductor having a larger salt concentration.³⁸ This difference in T_g suggests that the single-ion conductor will have lower ionic conductivity than the dual-ion conductor.

When no voltage is applied, cations and anions are homogeneously distributed throughout the electrolyte for both the single- or dual-ion conductors. The steady-state locations of cations and anions under $V_{\rm G} > 0$ and $V_{\rm G} < 0$ are illustrated in Figure 1c,d for the dual-ion conductor and singleion conductor, respectively. When a positive gate bias is applied to a dual-ion conductor (Figure 1c, left), cations (Cs⁺) are driven to the channel where they induce image charges (in this case, image charges are electrons) forming a cationic EDL at the channel/electrolyte interface. An analogous anionic EDL will form as anions (ClO₄⁻) accumulating at the electrolyte/ gate interface. When the polarity of the applied bias is reversed, an anionic EDL forms at the channel and a cationic EDL forms at the gate (Figure 1c, right).

For a single-ion conductor, shown in Figure 1d, a positive gate bias does not result in an anionic EDL at the gate/ electrolyte interface; instead, there exists a cationic depletion layer (Figure 1d, left). When the polarity is reversed, the cation depletion layer forms at the channel/electrolyte interface (Figure 1d, right). Crucially, the negative charge stored by anions in the cationic depletion layer equals the positive charge in the cationic EDL, while the volumetric charge density of anions in the depletion layer is fixed and smaller than the volumetric charge density of the closely packed cations in the EDL. Thus, the depletion layer requires larger thickness (or volume when considered in 3D) than the EDL to store the same amount of charge. The presence of such a thick depletion layer also suggests that the device geometry will affect the interface capacitance of devices gated by the single-ion conductor because the depletion layer thicknesses will depend on the areas of both channel and gate. In contrast, the EDL thickness is always the distance between the ion and channel surface (i.e., <1 nm) and is independent of the channel size. Nonetheless, a depletion layer, albeit significantly thicker than the EDL, will still serve as a capacitor just with a smaller capacitance density than the EDL.

To understand how the ion and voltage distributions differ under an applied voltage in a single-ion conductor compared to a dual-ion conductor and how their distributions will change with respect to the device geometry, we modeled ion transport using finite element analysis via COMSOL Multiphysics. A modified Nernst-Planck-Poisson system of equations^{39,40} was solved for both single-ion and dual-ion conductors in two parallel plate capacitor geometries: one with electrodes of equivalent sized and another where one electrode is 10 times larger than the other (i.e., modeling the FET scenario where the channel is smaller than the gate). Figure 2 shows the resulting steady-state voltage distributions for applied voltages of equal and opposite polarities; the voltage is applied to the right electrode with the left electrode grounded. We first consider the scenarios where the electrodes have equivalent size (Figure 2a,b). In the case of a dual-ion conductor, anions

and cations accumulate adjacent to their respective electrodes, producing EDLs of equal charge and thickness. The result is a symmetric voltage profile across the thickness of the capacitor where half of the applied voltage drops on each EDL regardless of the voltage polarity (Figure 2a), and the voltage drop through the bulk of the electrolyte is nearly zero.

In the case of the single-ion conductor, the majority of the voltage always drops across the depletion layer, regardless of polarity. The voltage drop is approximately 3 times larger across the depletion layer than the EDL, and the depletion layer is also approximately 3 times thicker than the EDL (Figure 2b). This result is sensible when considering conservation of charge across the parallel plate capacitor. Charge (Q) is expressed as $Q = V_{int}C_{int} = V_{int}\varepsilon_0\varepsilon_r\frac{A}{d}$, where V_{int} is the voltage across the interface, C_{int} is the interface capacitance, A is the area of channel, and d is the thickness of the interface capacitive layer (i.e., thickness of EDL or the depletion layers). Thus, the thicker depletion layer has lower interface capacitance and therefore requires a larger voltage drop to balance the charge.

For the scenario of equal sized electrodes discussed above, the voltage distribution across the single-ion conductor differs from the dual-ion conductor because the depletion region in a single-ion conductor requires the majority of the voltage drop. However, when the electrodes are unequal in length, similar to what would exist between the channel and the gate in a sidegated EDLT geometry, the voltage profiles between the singleand dual-ion conductors are remarkably similar because the geometry induces the majority of the voltage drop. Specifically, the length of the left (grounded) electrode decreased to onetenth of the right electrode, and for the dual-ion conductor, 90% of the voltage drop across the EDL occurs adjacent to the shorter electrode, regardless of the voltage polarity (Figure 2c). The asymmetric voltage drop again results from charge conservation: the shorter electrode requires a larger voltage drop to compensate for its smaller capacitance.

In the case of the single-ion conductor (Figure 2d), the majority of voltage drop is also adjacent to the shorter electrode for the reason mentioned above, but the details of the ion and voltage distributions are more complicated. For V > 0 applied to the longer electrode, \sim 85% of the voltage drop is distributed across the \sim 0.5 nm-thick cationic EDL at the shorter electrode. When the polarity is reversed to V < 0, almost all of the applied voltage (97%) falls within the ~ 1.5 nm-thick depletion layer near the shorter electrode (Figure 2d). This result is significantly different from Figure 2b where the electrode sizes are equal. To understand this difference, we focus on the voltage distributions near the grounded electrode only because the shorter grounded electrode is similar to the channel in the transfer measurements where $V_{\rm S} = 0$ V and $V_{\rm DS}$ $\ll V_{\rm GS}$ (see parts 2 and 6 in the Supporting Information). Focusing on the inset of Figure 2d, the depletion layer is ~ 3 times thicker than the EDL even though the voltage drop is only 14% larger. This occurs because the grounded electrode is 10 times smaller and requires the majority of the potential drop regardless of the polarity of *V*. Even though the depletion layer thickness is 3 times larger, it is not possible for this layer to have 3 times larger potential drop than the EDL at the same electrode, and therefore, the charge at the grounded electrode will be lower for V < 0 compared to V > 0. This result suggests that the single-ion conductor in a side-gated EDLT geometry will exhibit weaker p-type doping compared to n-type doping.



Figure 2. Steady-state voltage distributions from COMSOL Multiphysics and the corresponding device schematics showing ion positions for both (a, c) dual-ion and (b, d) single-ion conductors in two parallel plate capacitor geometries: electrodes of equal size (upper row) and electrodes of unequal size where the right electrode is 10 times larger than left (bottom row). Note that the schematics are not drawn to scale. Either ± 1 V is applied on the right-side electrode. Cation and anion layers are highlighted in blue and red, respectively. The anion EDL (dual-ion) or cationic depletion layer (single-ion) thickness differences are illustrated qualitatively. Specifically, for the dual-ion conductor, the anionic EDL layer thickness is similar to the cationic EDL layer thickness; while for the single-ion conductor, the cationic depletion layer thickness is larger and influenced by the electrode size. The steady-state potential distributions under positive and negative voltages are highlighted in the red solid and dashed blue lines, respectively.

To test these predictions experimentally, we chose graphene as the first 2D material for two reasons. First, because it is a semi-metal, graphene is highly conductive and ambipolar with an intrinsic charge neutrality point at zero gate voltage, making it ideal for sensing both p- and n-type changes in conductivity. Second, EDL gating of graphene FETs using a dual-ion conductor has been widely demonstrated,^{26,35} making it straightforward to benchmark against previously published results.

Graphene FETs with side gate geometry were fabricated by EBL as depicted above in Figure 1a. After device fabrication and before the single-ion conductor deposition, the channel surface was cleaned using an AFM in contact mode to remove e-beam resist residue.⁴¹ Preparing a residue-free surface is essential to achieve the maximum gating effect because the EDL forms within a few nanometers of the surface, similar to the typical thickness of the EBL residue.⁴¹ Figure 3a shows the AFM images of a graphene device after AFM cleaning. The root mean square roughness (R_{q}) of the channel surface was reduced from ~1.30 nm before cleaning to ~0.37 nm after cleaning, which is close to the reported value for freshly exfoliated graphene on SiO₂ (~0.32 nm).⁴² Note that all R_{a} are reported for a 400×400 nm area. The line scan indicates a flake thickness of 1.5 nm, corresponding to ~5 layers of graphene.

The transfer characteristics of the graphene FETs (without electrolyte) were first measured with a back gate (Figure 3b, blue line), and the devices show a Dirac point around $V_{\rm BG} = 0$ V, suggesting that there is negligible intrinsic doping in the exfoliated flakes. Under $V_{\rm DS} = 100$ mV, the transfer curve exhibits highly symmetric n- and p-branches with a current maxima of ~100 μ A (25.4 μ A/ μ m) at $|V_{\rm BG}| = 30$ V. The output characteristics of the bare graphene FET (Figure 3c, blue lines) also indicate that $I_{\rm D}$ is a linear function of $V_{\rm DS}$, suggesting good ohmic contact at the source/drain terminals. These results on the bare graphene FETs are in good agreement with prior reports.^{35,43,44}

After deposition of the single-ion conductor, the transfer and output measurements were repeated with EDL gating using the side gate 10 μ m away from the channel. A sweep rate of 2.5 mV/s was used, which is 2000 times slower than that of the bare FET to allow sufficient time for the ions to respond to the field. This relatively slow sweep rate is consistent with the high $T_{\rm g}$ of the single-ion conductor that reflects slow ion mobility. Compared to the bare FET, the maximum $I_{\rm D}$ increased in the n-branch ($V_{\rm SG} > 0$ V) by 50% to ~152 μ A at $V_{\rm SG} = 3$ V. The increased current is expected for the EDL gating because of the large interfacial capacitance (1–4 μ F/cm²) induced by EDLs.^{15,16} However, unlike conventional EDL gating with dual-ion conductors where the current is enhanced in both the



Figure 3. (a) AFM topography scan of a bare graphene FET channel (before electrolyte deposition). The location of the line scan is indicated by the white dashed line. (b) Transfer characteristics of the graphene FET: the blue data corresponds to the back-gated measurement of a bare FET while the red corresponds to a side-gated measurement on the same FET with the single-ion conductor. (c) Output characteristics of the back-gated (blue) and side-grated (red) graphene FETs.

n- and p-branches of an ambipolar FET, the single-ion conductor-gated FET shows a suppressed p-branch ($V_{SG} < 0$ V). The maximum I_D for the p-branch decreased by 65% to ~35 μ A at $V_{SG} = -3$ V. This observation agrees well with the predictions from Figure 2d. The channel current, $I_D = \mu \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r \frac{A}{d} (V_{int} - V_T) \frac{W}{L} V_{DS}$, where V_{int} is the interface voltage, d is the interface capacitive layer thickness, and A/W/L is the area/width/length of the channel. When V_G is negative (corresponding to the p-branch), the depletion layer thickness next to the channel is expected to be much larger than the EDL thickness next to the channel when V_G is positive (corresponding to the n-branch). However, we learned from Figure 2d that the voltage drop across the depletion layer at the short electrode (i.e., channel) is only slightly larger than that across the EDL; thus, the channel current should be lower in the p-branch than in the n-branch.

Output characteristics as a function of side gate voltages are shown in Figure 3c (red lines). Compared with the back-gated data, the maximum I_D under positive (negative) side gate voltages are higher (lower), which is congruent with the transfer characteristics. Note that the results shown in Figure 3c are double sweeps, including the single-ion conductor-gated results, and the overlap of the forward and reverse sweeps indicates that the single-ion conductor gating is stable at each measured gate voltage, as long as adequate time is provided for the ions to respond to the field.

Thus far, the electrical characteristics of the single-ion conductor-gated FETs qualitatively agree with our predictions; however, it is essential to benchmark the single-ion conductor gating performance against a commonly used dual-ion conductor. To do this, we removed the single-ion conductor by solvent washing (dimethylformamide, DMF) and AFM cleaning. After the two-step cleaning process, the root mean square roughness (R_a) of the graphene channel is close to the value of freshly exfoliated flakes (Supporting Information, Figure S8).⁴² Then, we redeposited a dual-ion polymer electrolyte, PEO:CsClO₄, on the same device and repeated the transfer measurements. Figure 4 shows the transfer curves for two such FETs (device 1 and 2) with (1) Si/SiO₂ back gate (no electrolyte), (2) EDL side gate using the single-ion conductor, and (3) EDL side gate using the dual-ion polymer electrolyte, PEO:CsClO₄. The solid lines correspond to the forward sweeps, and the dashed lines correspond to the reverse sweeps. For the transfer curves obtained using PEO:CsClO₄



Figure 4. (a, b) Transfer characteristics of two graphene FETs. Backgated bare devices (blue), side-gated with single-ion conductor (red), and side-gated with dual-ion conductor (green). Solid and dotted lines indicate scans from negative to positive gate voltages and from positive to negative gate voltages, respectively. Note that the gate voltages were normalized with respected to V_{Dirac} to facilitate comparison between n- and p-branches currents using different gating methods. The original data are provided in Supporting Information, Part 3.



Figure 5. (a) COMSOL simulations of corresponding charge carrier densities within the grounded electrode in a parallel-plate capacitor geometry with the single-ion conductor (red) and the dual-ion conductor (green). (b) Transfer characteristics of both ion conductors on one graphene FET (device 3): the single-ion conductor is red and the dual-ion conductor (PEO:CsClO₄) is green. In both (a) and (b), the voltage is swept from negative to positive (solid lines) and then reversed (dotted lines).

(green), both the n- and p-branches are clearly observable and show increased current compared to the bare, back-gated devices. Overall, for the n-branch, EDL gating with either dualor single-ion conductor shows enhanced on current (\sim 80 and 60% for dual- and single-ion conductors, respectively) over back gating through SiO₂. This improvement is attributed to



Figure 6. (a) AFM topography scan of a bare $MOTe_2$ FET channel (before electrolyte deposition). The location of the line scan is indicated by the white dash line. (b) Transfer characteristics of the $MOTe_2$ FET in log scale with back-gated transfer measurements from $V_{BG} = -30$ to 30 V on the bare FET in blue and side-gated transfer of the same FET from $V_{SG} = -3$ to 3 V with single-ion conductor in red. (c) Zoomed transfer curves on a linear y axis over a negative range of V_{BG} to highlight the suppressed p-branch when using the single-ion conductor.

the larger EDL capacitance and agrees with previous reports.^{15,16} For the p-branch, the enhancement of on current is again observed for the dual-ion conductor but is suppressed for the single-ion conductor. Note also that the Dirac point location in the transfer measurements shifts to negative V_{SG} after the deposition of the single-ion conductor and does not return to zero after removing the electrolyte with solvent and AFM cleaning (Supporting Information, Figure S5). However, this shift is commonly observed in EDL gating of graphene FETs using dual-ion conductors^{23,35} and reflects that the electrolyte induces doping of the graphene channel even in the absence of a gate voltage. The original data and discussion of the differences between devices are provided in Supporting Information, Part 3.

The successful ambipolar modulation of the channel current using a dual-ion conductor indicates that the single-ion conductor did not change the graphene channel in a way that would prevent hole conduction. This further supports the understanding that suppressed p-branch current in the singleion conductor is caused by the cation depletion layer having weaker gate modulation compared to the EDL. This effect can be captured by modeling the dynamic response of single- and dual-ion conductors in response to a voltage sweep. A timedependent Nernst-Plank-Poisson equation was used with a geometry identical to Figure 2c,d. The voltage is applied to the right electrode, and the ion distribution near the left (grounded) electrode is monitored. The ion mobility of the single-ion conductor is lower than that of the dual-ion conductor (as mentioned above and in Figure S1), and we therefore set the diffusion coefficient of the dual-ion conductor to be 1.5 times larger than that of the single-ion conductor.

Figure 5a shows the predicted carrier density in response to a voltage sweep in the range of ± 1 V. For the dual-ion conductor, anions and cations accumulate at the electrodes identically, resulting in a symmetric carrier density with respect to the applied voltage polarity. In contrast, for the single-ion conductor, the carrier density at the grounded electrode is lower under a negative voltage corresponding to the cation depletion region, compared to positive voltage corresponding to a cationic EDL. These results agree with the smaller capacitance at the depletion layer, as discussed above regarding Figure 2.

If we consider only EDL gating of the single- and dual-ion conductors (i.e., $V_{\rm G} > 0$), the maximum predicted carrier densities are similar (15 × 10¹³ cm⁻² and 17 × 10¹³ cm⁻² for

single and dual-ion conductors, respectively). The similarity is also reflected in the steady-state modeling results in Figure 2c,d where the voltage dropped across the grounded electrode is similar for single-ion (0.85 V) and dual-ion conductors (0.89 V). The EDL thicknesses are also similar (\sim 0.5 nm), and therefore, the charge densities are expected to be similar.

To compare directly between modeling and experiments, Figure 5b shows the transfer curves measured experimentally on a third device (device 3) using both single- and dual-ion conductors (see also Figure S5, Supporting Information). The experimental results of all three devices shown in Figures 4 and 5 exhibit similar trend and match closely with simulations.

The similar n-type doping performance between the singleand dual-ion conductors is encouraging because it suggests the possibility of using the single-ion conductor to induce high charge density similar to dual-ion conductors, which is up to 10¹⁴ cm⁻² as measured experimentally^{25,26} and also predicted in simulations in Figure 5a. Note that a higher applied voltage is required experimentally to achieve the same carrier density as the simulation because of the geometry differences and imperfect ion packing. In addition, we measured the EDL capacitance induced by the single-ion conductor by a series of $V_{\rm SG}$ transfer measurements under various $V_{\rm BG}$ (Figure S6, Supporting Information). The EDL capacitance of the singleion conductor (1.66 μ F/cm²) is very similar with the reported value of dual-ion conductors $(1-4 \,\mu\text{F}/\text{cm}^2)$,^{15,26,45} which also implies the possibility of achieving similar n-type gating. The ability to pack ion densely is critical for creating electrostatic imbalance in the single-ion conductor, which can lead to mechanical bending of the electrolyte if it is placed on a semirigid support (i.e., a suspended 2D flake).

Lastly, to make sure that the gating performance of the single-ion conductor is not unique to graphene and can also be observed in 2D crystals, $MoTe_2$ FETs were fabricated with the same device geometry as the graphene FETs. We choose $MoTe_2$ because one potential use for single-ion conductor gating is to explore the strain-induced semiconductor-to-metal transition for which $MoTe_2$ is predicted to have one of the smallest strain requirements (i.e., <3%).⁶ Moreover, the transition has been experimentally demonstrated in $MoTe_2$.^{8,9} The AFM scans of one $MoTe_2$ FET are shown in Figure 6a, and the line scan shows the channel thickness to be 4 nm (~6 $MoTe_2$ layers). The majority of the flake is in uniform thickness, and therefore, we expect minimal impact from thickness variations on the electrical properties.⁴⁶ Back-

gated transfer characteristics were measured on bare devices, as indicated by the blue transfer curve in Figure 6b. The bare MoTe₂ FET is ambipolar with a minimum current of ~10⁻⁵ μ A at $V_{\rm BG}$ of ~-15 V. The on/off ratio of the n-branch from -5 < $V_{\rm BG}$ < 30 V is <10⁴, and the p-branch from -30 < $V_{\rm BG}$ < -17 V is <100.

Using the single-ion conductor, the maximum current through MoTe₂ at $V_{SG} = 3$ V is ~32 times larger compared to the maximum current of the bare FET at $V_{BG} = 30$ V (Figure 6b). Output characteristics also show effective gate control of the channel current using the single-ion conductor (Figure S9). The on/off ratio of the n-branch increases from 10^4 for the bare FET to ~ 10^6 with the single-ion conductor. Also, the subthreshold swing (SS) of the n-branch decreases with the single-ion conductor (from 5000 mV/dec by backgating the bare device to 247 mV/dec). The strong current modulation and the enhanced on/off ratio further confirm the strong EDL modulation by the single-ion conductor. Similar to the graphene FETs, the I_D of the p-branch remains suppressed, in this case, at the off level of 10^{-5} μ A. The suppressed p-branch is highlighted in a linear plot in Figure 6c.

CONCLUSIONS

EDL gating using a custom-synthesized single-ion conductor is demonstrated for the first time on both graphene and MoTe₂ FETs. Transfer characteristics for all the FETs show an enhanced n-branch using the single-ion conductor and a suppressed p-branch compared with back-gated measurements of bare FETs. Finite element modeling of ion transport in response to an applied field shown that the p-branch suppression results from the combination of using a singleion conductor and an asymmetric gate/channel geometry. In addition, the two ion conductors compared on the same FETs both show similar performance in the n-branch (i.e., on/off ratio and maximum ion current), suggesting that the single-ion conductor can achieve cationic ion densities similar to the wellstudied dual-ion conductor (i.e., up to 10^{14} cm⁻²). This achievable carrier density is also predicted by modeling and would be theoretically sufficient to induce several percent strain in a 2D crystal. This is the first demonstration of a single-ion conductor-gated multilayer 2D crystal FET, and the results lay the groundwork for inducing strain in 2D materials locally via field effect and for demonstrating the 2H to 1T' phase transition. These features are potentially useful for creating an electronic switch with a low turn-on voltage and steep subthreshold swing and for 2D flexible electronics with functionality controlled by strain.

EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Device Fabrication and Electrical Characterization. Freshly cleaved few-layer graphene and MoTe₂ flakes (1.5 nm–5 nm-thick) were mechanically exfoliated from their bulk sources (2D semiconductors) to p-doped silicon substrate with 90 nm SiO₂ (Graphene Supermarket, resistivity of 0.001–0.005 ohm·cm). The flake topography and thickness were measured by AFM (Bruker Dimension Icon, ScanAsyst mode). Source/drain electrodes and side gates were patterned by EBL (Raith e-LINE). Also, Ti (3 nm)/Au (120 nm) metals were deposited by e-beam evaporation (Plassys MEB550S electron beam evaporator) at a base pressure of <10⁻⁶ Torr. After liftoff, FETs were transferred to a cryogenic vacuum probe station (Lakeshore, CRX-VF) for vacuum annealing (400 K, 4 h at a pressure of 2×10^{-6} Torr) and initial electrical measurements. After annealing, FETs were transferred from the probe station to an Ar-filled glovebox using an Ar-filled load lock without exposure to ambient air for

electrolyte deposition, before transferring back to the probe station for electrical measurements. The electrical measurements were conducted using a Keysight B1500A semiconductor parameter analyzer at a constant temperature of 300 K.

Single-Ion Conductor Synthesis. The polyester single-ion conductor was synthesized by a two-step melt condensation between poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) 400 ($M_w = 400 \text{ g mol}^{-1}$) and dimethyl S-sulfoisophthalate sodium salt.³⁴ The resulting polyester Na was then sealed in semipermeable dialysis membranes and exposed to an excess of LiCl (0.5 M) in deionized water to exchange Na⁺ for Li⁺.³⁴ The final product, polyester Li (PE400-Li), was dissolved in dimethylformamide (DMF) inside an Ar-filled glovebox to obtain a 3 wt % solution. The solution was drop-cast on graphene and MoTe₂ FETs (8 μ L on the 1 cm² chip), and the DMF was removed by evaporating naturally in the glovebox overnight. The FETs coated with the single-ion conductor were transferred back to the probe station using the load lock for subsequent measurements.

Dual-Ion Conductor. The dual-ion conducting polymer electrolyte (PEO:CsClO₄) was prepared similarly to previously published work.¹⁵ PEO (Polymer Standards Service, $M_w = 94600 \text{ g mol}^{-1}$) and CsClO₄ (Sigma-Aldrich, 99.9%) were dissolved in anhydrous acetonitrile (Sigma-Aldrich) to make a 1 wt % solution with an ether oxygen to Cs molar ratio of 76:1. Twenty-five microliters of the solution was drop-cast onto the 1 cm² sample of graphene FETs in the glovebox, dried at room temperature until the majority of the solvent evaporated, and then annealed at 80 °C for 3 min.

Modeling. The time-dependent, modified Nernst-Planck-Poisson relationship was used in COMSOL Multiphysics to predict ion accumulation in response to voltage. Ion migration was modeled using a modified version of the Nernst-Plank equation: $\frac{dc}{dt} = \nabla (D_{\pm} \nabla c_{\pm} + \frac{D_{\pm} F}{RT} z_{\pm} c_{\pm} \nabla V + \gamma, \text{ where } c \text{ is the ion concentration,}$ *D* is the ion diffusion coefficient, *F* is faraday's constant, *RT* is the thermal energy, γ is the steric repulsion term, and *V* is the electrolyte potential. The potential is coupled to Poisson's equation $\nabla^2 (-\epsilon V) = F \sum_{i=1}^{2} (z_i c_i)$, where ϵ is the permittivity of the electrolyte (~10 ϵ_0)³⁶ and *z* is the ion charge number (+1 for cations, -1 for anions). A stern layer, defined by $\nabla^2 (-\epsilon V) = 0$, was used directly adjacent to the electrode and SiO₂ boundaries and set to equal 2 Å. The bulk concentration of ions corresponds to an ether oxygen to lithium ratio of 20:1, and the density of the polymer is assumed to be 1 g/cm³.

For all four geometries, a 50 μ m-long by 5 μ m-thick electrolyte was used; electrodes were modeled as boundary conditions with the appropriate potentials. In the models involving geometries of equalsized electrodes, the electrode surfaces constituted the entire 50 μ m boundary. A zero charge boundary condition (defined as $n \cdot D = 0$, where *n* is the surface normal vector and $D = -\varepsilon \nabla V$ was used for the nonelectrode boundaries). The mesh size near the electrode interfaces was decreased until the EDL concentrations remained within 1% of its previous value.

In the models involving unequal electrodes, boundary conditions for nonelectrode boundaries were defined to mimic SiO₂ by using a modification of the previous boundary condition: $n \cdot D = -\frac{\varepsilon_{\rm SiO2}\phi}{t}$, where $\varepsilon_{\rm SiO2}$ is the permittivity of SiO₂, ϕ is the local electrolyte potential at the interface, and t is the oxide thickness (90 nm). This modification allowed for a nonzero electric flux through the nonelectrode boundaries (i.e., 90 nm oxide) and therefore allowed ions to accumulate near the oxide surface. To determine the carrier density in ions/cm² through the electrolyte, the volumetric charge density was integrated using trapezoid approximation along a cutline taken across the electrolyte perpendicular to the center of the grounded electrode beginning at the electrode surface and terminating at the center of the electrolyte.

DSC Measurements. The DSC samples were prepared inside the Ar-filled glovebox. PE400-Li (8.7 mg) and PEO:CsClO₄ (7.1 mg) were hermetically sealed in aluminum DSC pans. Measurements were made on TA 250 calibrated with an indium standard. To measure T_g (glass transition temperature) and T_m (melting temperature), samples were heated to 100 °C to erase the thermal history, cooled to -70 °C at 3 °C min⁻¹, and heated to 100 °C at 5 °C min⁻¹.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge on the ACS Publications website at DOI: 10.1021/acsami.9b11526.

DSC measurements; 2D potential profiles from COMSOL modeling; transfer measurements on device 3; estimation of EDL capacitance in the single-ion conductor-gated FET; impact of device geometry on charge density from COMSOL simulations; effective gate size; and output characteristics of single-ion conductor-gated MoTe₂ FETs (PDF)

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

*E-mail: ke.xu@pitt.edu (K.X.).

*E-mail: fullerton@pitt.edu (S.F.-S.).

ORCID 💿

Ke Xu: 0000-0003-2692-1935

Jierui Liang: 0000-0003-1207-8959

Zhongmou Chao: 0000-0002-9882-4440

James R. McKone: 0000-0001-6445-7884

Susan K. Fullerton-Shirey: 0000-0003-2720-0400

Author Contributions

^{II}K.X. and J.L. contributed equally to this work. The manuscript was written through contributions of all authors. All authors have given approval to the final version of the manuscript.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NSF-DMR-EPM grant no. 1607935. J.R.M. acknowledges support from the University of Pittsburgh, Swanson School of Engineering.

REFERENCES

(1) Thompson, S. E.; Armstrong, M.; Auth, C.; Alavi, M.; Buehler, M.; Chau, R.; Cea, S.; Ghani, T.; Glass, G.; Hoffman, T.; et al. A 90-Nm Logic Technology Featuring Strained-Silicon. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* **2004**, *51*, 1790–1797.

(2) Jacobsen, R. S.; Andersen, K. N.; Borel, P. I.; Fage-Pedersen, J.; Frandsen, L. H.; Hansen, O.; Kristensen, M.; Lavrinenko, A. V.; Moulin, G.; Ou, H.; et al. Strained Silicon as a New Electro-Optic Material. *Nature* **2006**, *441*, 199–202.

(3) Desai, S. B.; Seol, G.; Kang, J. S.; Fang, H.; Battaglia, C.; Kapadia, R.; Ager, J. W.; Guo, J.; Javey, A. Strain-Induced Indirect to Direct Bandgap Transition in Multilayer WSe2. *Nano Lett.* **2014**, *14*, 4592–4597.

(4) Roldán, R.; Castellanos-Gomez, A.; Cappelluti, E.; Guinea, F. Strain Engineering in Semiconducting Two-Dimensional Crystals. *J. Phys. Condens. Matter* **2015**, *27*, 313201.

(5) Amorim, B.; Cortijo, A.; de Juan, F.; Grushin, A. G.; Guinea, F.; Gutiérrez-Rubio, A.; Ochoa, H.; Parente, V.; Roldán, R.; San-Jose, P.; et al. Novel Effects of Strains in Graphene and Other Two Dimensional Materials. *Phys. Rep.* **2016**, *617*, 1–54.

(6) Duerloo, K.-A. N.; Li, Y.; Reed, E. J. Structural Phase Transitions in Two-Dimensional Mo- and W-Dichalcogenide Monolayers. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 4214.

(7) Sharma, M.; Kumar, A.; Ahluwalia, P. K.; Pandey, R. Strain and Electric Field Induced Electronic Properties of Two-Dimensional Hybrid Bilayers of Transition-Metal Dichalcogenides. *J. Appl. Phys.* **2014**, *116*, No. 063711.

(8) Song, S.; Keum, D. H.; Cho, S.; Perello, D.; Kim, Y.; Lee, Y. H. Room Temperature Semiconductor–Metal Transition of $MoTe_2$ Thin Films Engineered by Strain. *Nano Lett.* **2015**, *16*, 188–193.

(9) Hou, W.; Azizimanesh, A.; Sewaket, A.; Peña, T.; Watson, C.; Liu, M.; Askari, H.; Wu, S. M. Strain-Based Room-Temperature Non-Volatile MoTe₂ Ferroelectric Phase Change Transistor. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2019**, *14*, 668.

(10) Shukla, N.; Thathachary, A. V.; Agrawal, A.; Paik, H.; Aziz, A.; Schlom, D. G.; Gupta, S. K.; Engel-Herbert, R.; Datta, S. A Steep-Slope Transistor Based on Abrupt Electronic Phase Transition. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 7812.

(11) Seabaugh, A.; Fathipour, S.; Li, W.; Lu, H.; Park, J. H.; Kummel, A. C.; Jena, D.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K.; Fay, P. Steep Subthreshold Swing Tunnel FETs: GaN/InN/GaN and Transition Metal Dichalcogenide Channels. In 2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM); IEEE: 2015, 35–36. DOI: 10.1109/ IEDM.2015.7409835.

(12) Lu, H.; Seabaugh, A. Tunnel Field-Effect Transistors: State-of-the-Art. *IEEE J. Electron Devices Soc.* **2014**, *2*, 44–49.

(13) Akinwande, D.; Petrone, N.; Hone, J. Two-Dimensional Flexible Nanoelectronics. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 5678.

(14) Kim, S. J.; Choi, K.; Lee, B.; Kim, Y.; Hong, B. H. Materials for Flexible, Stretchable Electronics: Graphene and 2D Materials. *Annu. Rev. Mater. Res.* **2015**, *45*, 63–84.

(15) Xu, H.; Fathipour, S.; Kinder, E. W.; Seabaugh, A. C.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K. Reconfigurable Ion Gating of 2H-MoTe₂ Field-Effect Transistors Using Poly(Ethylene Oxide)-CsClO₄ Solid Polymer Electrolyte. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 4900–4910.

(16) Xu, K.; Islam, M. M.; Guzman, D. M.; Seabaugh, A.; Strachan, A.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K. Pulse Dynamics of Electric Double Layer Formation on All-Solid-State Graphene Field-Effect Transistors. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 43166.

(17) Kim, J.; Na, J.; Joo, M.-K.; Suh, D. Low-Voltage-Operated Highly Sensitive Graphene Hall Elements by Ionic Gating. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 4226–4232.

(18) Zhao, W.; Bi, S.; Balke, N.; Rack, P. D.; Ward, T. Z.; Kalinin, S. V.; Dai, S.; Feng, G. Understanding Electric Double-Layer Gating Based on Ionic Liquids: From Nanoscale to Macroscale. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 43211–43218.

(19) Jiang, J.; Hu, W.; Xie, D.; Yang, J.; He, J.; Gao, Y.; Wan, Q. 2D Electric-Double-Layer Phototransistor for Photoelectronic and Spatiotemporal Hybrid Neuromorphic Integration. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 1360–1369.

(20) Paletti, P.; Yue, R.; Hinkle, C.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K.; Seabaugh, A. Two-Dimensional Electric-Double-Layer Esaki diode. *npj* 2D Mater. Appl. 2019, 3, 19.

(21) Ren, X.; Wang, Y.; Xie, Z.; Xue, F.; Leighton, C.; Frisbie, C. D. Gate-Tuned Insulator-Metal Transition in Electrolyte-Gated Transistors Based on Tellurene. *Nano Lett.* **2019**, 4738.

(22) Fathipour, S.; Pandey, P.; Fullerton-Shirey, S.; Seabaugh, A. Electric-Double-Layer Doping of WSe₂ field-effect Transistors Using Polyethylene-Oxide Cesium Perchlorate. *J. Appl. Phys.* **2016**, *120*, 234902.

(23) Kinder, E. W.; Fuller, A.; Lin, Y.-C.; Robinson, J. A.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K. Increasing the Room-Temperature Electric Double Layer Retention Time in Two-Dimensional Crystal FETs. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2017**, *9*, 25006–25013.

(24) Xu, K.; Lu, H.; Kinder, E. W.; Seabaugh, A.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K. Monolayer Solid-State Electrolyte for Electric Double Layer Gating of Graphene Field-Effect Transistors. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 5453–5464.

(25) Bisri, S. Z.; Shimizu, S.; Nakano, M.; Iwasa, Y. Endeavor of Iontronics: From Fundamentals to Applications of Ion-Controlled Electronics. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1607054.

(26) Efetov, D. K.; Kim, P. Controlling Electron-Phonon Interactions in Graphene at Ultrahigh Carrier Densities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *105*, 256805.

(27) Yuan, H.; Shimotani, H.; Tsukazaki, A.; Ohtomo, A.; Kawasaki, M.; Iwasa, Y. High-Density Carrier Accumulation in ZnO Field-Effect

ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces

Transistors Gated by Electric Double Layers of Ionic Liquids. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2009, 19, 1046–1053.

(28) Ueno, K.; Shimotani, H.; Yuan, H.; Ye, J.; Kawasaki, M.; Iwasa, Y. Field-Induced Superconductivity in Electric Double Layer Transistors. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. **2014**, 83, No. 032001.

(29) Du, H.; Lin, X.; Xu, Z.; Chu, D. Electric Double-Layer Transistors: A Review of Recent Progress. J. Mater. Sci. 2015, 50, 5641–5673.

(30) Vargantwar, P. H.; Roskov, K. E.; Ghosh, T. K.; Spontak, R. J. Enhanced Biomimetic Performance of Ionic Polymer-Metal Composite Actuators Prepared with Nanostructured Block Ionomers. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2012**, *33*, 61–68.

(31) Choi, J.-H.; Xie, W.; Gu, Y.; Frisbie, C. D.; Lodge, T. P. Single Ion Conducting, Polymerized Ionic Liquid Triblock Copolymer Films: High Capacitance Electrolyte Gates for N-Type Transistors. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2015**, *7*, 7294–7302.

(32) Herlogsson, L.; Crispin, X.; Tierney, S.; Berggren, M. Polyelectrolyte-Gated Organic Complementary Circuits Operating at Low Power and Voltage. *Adv. Mater.* **2011**, *23*, 4684–4689.

(33) Malti, A.; Gabrielsson, E. O.; Berggren, M.; Crispin, X. Ultra-Low Voltage Air-Stable Polyelectrolyte Gated n-Type Organic Thin Film Transistors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2011**, *99*, 063305.

(34) Dou, S.; Zhang, S.; Klein, R. J.; Runt, J.; Colby, R. H. Synthesis and Characterization of Poly(Ethylene Glycol)-Based Single-Ion Conductors. *Chem. Mater.* **2006**, *18*, 4288–4295.

(35) Li, H.-M.; Xu, K.; Bourdon, B.; Lu, H.; Lin, Y.-C.; Robinson, J. A.; Seabaugh, A. C.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K. Electric Double Layer Dynamics in Poly(Ethylene Oxide) LiClO₄ on Graphene Transistors. *J. Phys. Chem.* C **2017**, *121*, 16996–17004.

(36) Lee, A. A.; Colby, R. H.; Kornyshev, A. A. Electroactuation with Single Charge Carrier Ionomers: The Roles of Electrostatic Pressure and Steric Strain. *Soft Matter* **2013**, *9*, 3767.

(37) Lee, A. A.; Colby, R. H.; Kornyshev, A. A. Statics and Dynamics of Electroactuation with Single-Charge-Carrier Ionomers. *J. Phys. Condens. Matter* **2013**, *25*, No. 082203.

(38) Fullerton-Shirey, S. K.; Maranas, J. K. Effect of $LiClO_4$ on the Structure and Mobility of PEO-Based Solid Polymer Electrolytes. *Macromolecules* **2009**, *42*, 2142–2156.

(39) Kilic, M. S.; Bazant, M. Z.; Ajdari, A. Steric Effects in the Dynamics of Electrolytes at Large Applied Voltages. II. Modified Poisson-Nernst-Planck Equations. *Phys. Rev. E* 2007, DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevE.75.021503.

(40) Wang, H.; Pilon, L. Accurate Simulations of Electric Double Layer Capacitance of Ultramicroelectrodes. J. Phys. Chem. C 2011, 115, 16711.

(41) Liang, J.; Xu, K.; Toncini, B.; Bersch, B.; Jariwala, B.; Lin, Y.-C.; Robinson, J.; Fullerton-Shirey, S. K. Impact of Post-Lithography Polymer Residue on the Electrical Characteristics of MoS₂ and WSe₂ Field Effect Transistors. *Adv. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *6*, 1801321.

(42) Geringer, V.; Liebmann, M.; Echtermeyer, T.; Runte, S.; Schmidt, M.; Rückamp, R.; Lemme, M. C.; Morgenstern, M. Intrinsic and Extrinsic Corrugation of Monolayer Graphene Deposited on SiO₂. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *102*, 076102.

(43) Schwierz, F. Graphene Transistors. Nat. Nanotechnol. 2010, 5, 487–496.

(44) Craciun, M. F.; Russo, S.; Yamamoto, M.; Tarucha, S. Tuneable Electronic Properties in Graphene. *Nano Today* **2011**, *6*, 42–60.

(45) Lin, Y.-C.; Jariwala, B.; Bersch, B. M.; Xu, K.; Nie, Y.; Wang, B.; Eichfeld, S. M.; Zhang, X.; Choudhury, T. H.; Pan, Y.; et al. Realizing Large-Scale, Electronic-Grade Two-Dimensional Semiconductors. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 965–975.

(46) Lavini, F.; Calò, A.; Gao, Y.; Albisetti, E.; Li, T.-D.; Cao, T.; Li, G.; Cao, L.; Aruta, C.; Riedo, E. Friction and Work Function Oscillatory Behavior for an Even and Odd Number of Layers in Polycrystalline MoS₂. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 8304–8312.

Bibliography

- [1] M. L.M. Lalieu, R. Lavrijsen, and B. Koopmans. Integrating all-optical switching with spintronics. *Nature Communications*, 10(1):1–6, 2019.
- [2] A. Avsar, H. Ochoa, F. Guinea, B. Özyilmaz, B. J. van Wees, and I. J. Vera-Marun. Colloquium : Spintronics in graphene and other two-dimensional materials . *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 92(2):21003, 2020.
- [3] H. Naganuma, V. Zatko, M. Galbiati, F. Godel, A. Sander, C. Carrétéro, O. Bezencenet, N. Reyren, M.-B. Martin, B. Dlubak, and P. Seneor. A perpendicular graphene/ferromagnet electrode for spintronics. *Applied Physics Letters*, 116(17):173101, 2020.
- [4] Benjamin J. Eggleton, Christopher G. Poulton, Peter T. Rakich, Michael J. Steel, and Gaurav Bahl. Brillouin integrated photonics. *Nature Photonics*, 13(10):664–677, 2019.
- [5] Yifei Zhang, Jeffrey B. Chou, Junying Li, Huashan Li, Qingyang Du, Anupama Yadav, Si Zhou, Mikhail Y. Shalaginov, Zhuoran Fang, Huikai Zhong, Christopher Roberts, Paul Robinson, Bridget Bohlin, Carlos Ríos, Hongtao Lin, Myungkoo Kang, Tian Gu, Jamie Warner, Vladimir Liberman, Kathleen Richardson, and Juejun Hu. Broadband transparent optical phase change materials for high-performance nonvolatile photonics. *Nature Communications*, 10(1):1–9, 2019.
- [6] David Marpaung, Jianping Yao, and José Capmany. Integrated microwave photonics. Nature Photonics, 13(2):80–90, 2019.
- [7] Xiaojian Zhu, Da Li, Xiaogan Liang, and Wei D. Lu. Ionic modulation and ionic coupling effects in MoS 2 devices for neuromorphic computing. *Nature Materials*, 18(2):141–148, 2019.
- [8] Geoffrey W. Burr, Abu Sebastian, Elisa Vianello, Rainer Waser, and Stuart Parkin. Emerging materials in neuromorphic computing: Guest editorial. APL Materials, 8(1):17–20, 2020.

- [9] Ziyu Lv, Yan Wang, Jingrui Chen, Junjie Wang, Ye Zhou, and Su Ting Han. Semiconductor Quantum Dots for Memories and Neuromorphic Computing Systems. *Chemical Reviews*, 120(9):3941–4006, 2020.
- [10] Manish Chhowalla, Debdeep Jena, and Hua Zhang. Two-dimensional semiconductors for transistors. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 1(11):1–15, 2016.
- [11] Ke Xu and Susan K Fullerton-Shirey. Electric-double-layer-gated transistors based on two-dimensional crystals: recent approaches and advances. *Journal of Physics: Materials*, 3(3):032001, 2020.
- [12] Dmitri K. Efetov and Philip Kim. Controlling electron-phonon interactions in graphene at ultrahigh carrier densities. *Physical Review Letters*, 105(25):2–5, 2010.
- [13] J. T. Ye, S. Inoue, K. Kobayashi, Y. Kasahara, H. T. Yuan, H. Shimotani, and Y. Iwasa. Liquid-gated interface superconductivity on an atomically flat film. *Nature Materials*, 9(2):125–128, 2010.
- [14] Yasuhito Miyoshi, Takuya Fujimoto, Hirofumi Yoshikawa, Michio M. Matsushita, Kunio Awaga, Terufumi Yamada, and Hiroshi Ito. Photoconductivity and FET performance of an n-type porphyrazine semiconductor, tetrakis(thiadiazole)porphyrazine. Organic Electronics, 12(2):239–243, 2011.
- [15] Takuya Fujimoto and Kunio Awaga. Electric-double-layer field-effect transistors with ionic liquids. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 15(23):8983–9006, 2013.
- [16] S. B. Cronin, R. Barnett, M. Tinkham, S. G. Chou, O. Rabin, M. S. Dresselhaus, A. K. Swan, M. S. Ünlü, and B. B. Goldberg. Electrochemical gating of individual single-wall carbon nanotubes observed by electron transport measurements and resonant Raman spectroscopy. *Applied Physics Letters*, 84(12):2052–2054, 2004.
- [17] Feng Xiong, Haotian Wang, Xiaoge Liu, Jie Sun, Mark Brongersma, Eric Pop, and Yi Cui. Li Intercalation in MoS2: In Situ Observation of Its Dynamics and Tuning Optical and Electrical Properties. *Nano Letters*, 15(10):6777–6784, 2015.
- [18] Mohammad Taghi Sharbati, Yanhao Du, Jorge Torres, Nolan D. Ardolino, Minhee Yun, and Feng Xiong. Low-Power, Electrochemically Tunable Graphene Synapses for Neuromorphic Computing. Advanced Materials, 30(36):1–6, 2018.

- [19] Takuya Fujimoto, Michio M. Matsushita, and Kunio Awaga. Electrochemical fieldeffect transistors of octathio[8]circulene robust thin films with ionic liquids. *Chemical Physics Letters*, 483(1-3):81–83, 2009.
- [20] Takuya Fujimoto, Michio M. Matsushita, and Kunio Awaga. Ionic-liquid component dependence of carrier injection and mobility for electric-double-layer organic thin-film transistors. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 116(8):5240–5245, 2012.
- [21] Nicola J. Kay, Simon J. Higgins, Jan O. Jeppesen, Edmund Leary, Jess Lycoops, Jens Ulstrup, and Richard J. Nichols. Single-molecule electrochemical gating in ionic liquids. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 134(40):16817–16826, 2012.
- [22] Noémie Elgrishi, Kelley J. Rountree, Brian D. McCarthy, Eric S. Rountree, Thomas T. Eisenhart, and Jillian L. Dempsey. A Practical Beginner's Guide to Cyclic Voltammetry. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 95(2):197–206, 2018.
- [23] Ke Xu, Jierui Liang, Aaron Woeppel, M. Eli Bostian, Hangjun Ding, Zhongmou Chao, James R. McKone, Eric J. Beckman, and Susan K. Fullerton-Shirey. Electric Double-Layer Gating of Two-Dimensional Field-Effect Transistors Using a Single-Ion Conductor. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 11(39):35879–35887, 2019.
- [24] Hua-Min Li, Ke Xu, Buchanan Bourdon, Hao Lu, Yu-Chuan Lin, Joshua A. Robinson, Alan C. Seabaugh, and Susan K. Fullerton-Shirey. Electric Double Layer Dynamics in Poly(ethylene oxide) LiClO ₄ on Graphene Transistors. *The Journal* of Physical Chemistry C, 121(31):16996–17004, 2017.
- [25] Eri Uesugi, Hidenori Goto, Ritsuko Eguchi, Akihiko Fujiwara, and Yoshihiro Kubozono. Electric double-layer capacitance between an ionic liquid and few-layer graphene. *Scientific Reports*, 3:1–5, 2013.
- [26] E. Piatti, S. Galasso, M. Tortello, J. R. Nair, C. Gerbaldi, M. Bruna, S. Borini, D. Daghero, and R. S. Gonnelli. Carrier mobility and scattering lifetime in electric double-layer gated few-layer graphene. *Applied Surface Science*, 395:37–41, 2017.
- [27] Qing Hua Wang, Kourosh Kalantar-Zadeh, Andras Kis, Jonathan N. Coleman, and Michael S. Strano. Electronics and optoelectronics of two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 7(11):699–712, 2012.
- [28] Frank Schwierz. Graphene transistors. Nature Nanotechnology, 5(7):487–496, 2010.

- [29] Jian Hao Chen, Chaun Jang, Shudong Xiao, Masa Ishigami, and Michael S. Fuhrer. Intrinsic and extrinsic performance limits of graphene devices on SiO2. Nature Nanotechnology, 3(4):206–209, 2008.
- [30] Qi Wang and Yanbin Yun. Nonenzymatic sensor for hydrogen peroxide based on the electrodeposition of silver nanoparticles on poly(ionic liquid)-stabilized graphene sheets. *Microchimica Acta*, 180(3-4):261–268, 2013.
- [31] Lijie Zhong, Shiyu Gan, Xingguo Fu, Fenghua Li, Dongxue Han, Liping Guo, and Li Niu. Electrochemically controlled growth of silver nanocrystals on graphene thin film and applications for efficient nonenzymatic H2O2 biosensor. *Electrochimica Acta*, 89:222–228, 2013.
- [32] Yuxin Liu, Xiaochen Dong, and Peng Chen. Biological and chemical sensors based on graphene materials. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 41(6):2283–2307, 2012.
- [33] Kemeng Ji, Jiuhui Han, Akihiko Hirata, Takeshi Fujita, Yuhao Shen, Shoucong Ning, Pan Liu, Hamzeh Kashani, Yuan Tian, Yoshikazu Ito, Jun ichi Fujita, and Yutaka Oyama. Lithium intercalation into bilayer graphene. *Nature Communications*, 10(1):1–10, 2019.
- [34] Matthias Kühne, Federico Paolucci, Jelena Popovic, Pavel M. Ostrovsky, Joachim Maier, and Jurgen H. Smet. Ultrafast lithium diffusion in bilayer graphene. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12(9):895–900, 2017.
- [35] Wenzhong Bao, Jiayu Wan, Xiaogang Han, Xinghan Cai, Hongli Zhu, Dohun Kim, Dakang Ma, Yunlu Xu, Jeremy N. Munday, H. Dennis Drew, Michael S. Fuhrer, and Liangbing Hu. Approaching the limits of transparency and conductivity in graphitic materials through lithium intercalation. *Nature Communications*, 5(May):1–9, 2014.
- [36] Xiji Shao, Kedong Wang, Rui Pang, and Xingqiang Shi. Lithium Intercalation in Graphene/MoS2 Composites: First-Principles Insights. *Journal of Physical Chemistry* C, 119(46):25860–25867, 2015.
- [37] Vijay A. Sethuraman, Laurence J. Hardwick, Venkat Srinivasan, and Robert Kostecki. Surface structural disordering in graphite upon lithium intercalation/deintercalation. Journal of Power Sources, 195(11):3655–3660, 2010.
- [38] F. Bisti, G. Profeta, H. Vita, M. Donarelli, F. Perrozzi, P. M. Sheverdyaeva, P. Moras, K. Horn, and L. Ottaviano. Electronic and geometric structure of graphene/SiC(0001)

decoupled by lithium intercalation. *Physical Review B* - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics, 91(24):1–7, 2015.

- [39] K. Sugawara, K. Kanetani, T. Sato, and T. Takahashi. Fabrication of Li-intercalated bilayer graphene. *AIP Advances*, 1(2), 2011.
- [40] Tsutomu Ohzuku. Formation of Lithium-Graphite Intercalation Compounds in Nonaqueous Electrolytes and Their Application as a Negative Electrode for a Lithium Ion (Shuttlecock) Cell. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 140(9):2490, 1993.
- [41] Jiantie Xu, Yuhai Dou, Zengxi Wei, Jianmin Ma, Yonghong Deng, Yutao Li, Huakun Liu, and Shixue Dou. Recent Progress in Graphite Intercalation Compounds for Rechargeable Metal (Li, Na, K, Al)-Ion Batteries. Advanced Science, 4(10), 2017.
- [42] Dale A.C. Brownson and Craig E. Banks. CVD graphene electrochemistry: The role of graphitic islands. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 13(35):15825–15828, 2011.
- [43] Elo Kibena, Marek Mooste, Jekaterina Kozlova, Margus Marandi, Väino Sammelselg, and Kaido Tammeveski. Surface and electrochemical characterisation of CVD grown graphene sheets. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 35:26–29, 2013.
- [44] Masa Ishigami, J. H. Chen, W. G. Cullen, M. S. Fuhrer, and E. D. Williams. Atomic structure of graphene on SiO 2. Nano Letters, 7(6):1643–1648, 2007.
- [45] Yuehui Jia, Xin Gong, Pei Peng, Zidong Wang, Zhongzheng Tian, Liming Ren, Yunyi Fu, and Han Zhang. Toward High Carrier Mobility and Low Contact Resistance: Laser Cleaning of PMMA Residues on Graphene Surfaces. *Nano-Micro Letters*, 8(4):336– 346, 2016.
- [46] Jierui Liang, Ke Xu, Blaec Toncini, Brian Bersch, Bhakti Jariwala, Yu Chuan Lin, Joshua Robinson, and Susan K. Fullerton-Shirey. Impact of Post-Lithography Polymer Residue on the Electrical Characteristics of MoS 2 and WSe 2 Field Effect Transistors. Advanced Materials Interfaces, 6(3):1–10, 2019.
- [47] Jack Chan, Archana Venugopal, Adam Pirkle, Stephen McDonnell, David Hinojos, Carl W. Magnuson, Rodney S. Ruoff, Luigi Colombo, Robert M. Wallace, and Eric M. Vogel. Reducing extrinsic performance-limiting factors in graphene grown by chemical vapor deposition. ACS Nano, 6(4):3224–3229, 2012.
- [48] Cynthia G Zoski. Handbook of electrochemistry. Elsevier, 2007.

- [49] Donald T Sawyer, Andrzej Sobkowiak, and Julian L Roberts. Electrochemistry for Chemists. Wiley, 1995.
- [50] Hongtao Yuan, Hidekazu Shimotani, Atsushi Tsukazaki, Akira Ohtomo, Masashi Kawasaki, and Yoshihiro Iwasa. High-density carrier accumulation in ZnO field-effect transistors gated by electric double layers of ionic liquids. Advanced Functional Materials, 19(7):1046–1053, 2009.
- [51] Kazuhiro Yanagi, Shouhei Kanda, Yuki Oshima, Yoshimasa Kitamura, Hideki Kawai, Takahiro Yamamoto, Taishi Takenobu, Yusuke Nakai, and Yutaka Maniwa. Tuning of the thermoelectric properties of one-dimensional material networks by electric double layer techniques using ionic liquids. *Nano Letters*, 14(11):6437–6442, 2014.
- [52] Ke Xu, Md Mahbubul Islam, David Guzman, Alan C. Seabaugh, Alejandro Strachan, and Susan K. Fullerton-Shirey. Pulse Dynamics of Electric Double Layer Formation on All-Solid-State Graphene Field-Effect Transistors. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 10(49):43166-43176, 2018.
- [53] Cristobal Alessandri, Sara Fathipour, Huamin Li, Iljo Kwak, Andrew Kummel, Maja Remškar, and Alan C. Seabaugh. Reconfigurable Electric Double Layer Doping in an MoS2 Nanoribbon Transistor. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 64(12):5217– 5222, 2017.
- [54] Johannes Wandt, Junqiao Lee, Damien W.M. Arrigan, and Debbie S. Silvester. A lithium iron phosphate reference electrode for ionic liquid electrolytes. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 93(June):148–151, 2018.
- [55] T. Matsumoto, A. Ohashi, and N. Ito. Development of a micro-planar Ag/AgCl quasi-reference electrode with long-term stability for an amperometric glucose sensor. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 462(2):253–259, 2002.
- [56] Thuan Nguyen Pham Truong, Hyacinthe Randriamahazaka, and Jalal Ghilane. Platinum/poly(N-ferrocenylmethyl-N-allylimidazolium bromide) quasi-reference electrode for electrochemistry in non-aqueous and ionic liquid solutions. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 73:5–9, 2016.
- [57] Jalal Ghilene, Philippe Haplot, and Allen J. Bard. Metal/polypyrrole quasi-reference electrode for voltammetry in nonaqueous and aqueous solutions. *Analytical Chemistry*, 78(19):6868–6872, 2006.

- [58] Benedikt Huber and Bernhard Roling. Development of a Ag/Ag+ micro-reference electrode for electrochemical measurements in ionic liquids. *Electrochimica Acta*, 56(19):6569–6572, 2011.
- [59] E. Kirowa-eisner and E. Gileadi. The silver-silver perchlorate reference electrode in propylene carbonate. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 25(3):481–487, 1970.
- [60] Renata Mamińska, Artur Dybko, and Wojciech Wróblewski. All-solid-state miniaturised planar reference electrodes based on ionic liquids. *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical*, 115(1):552–557, 2006.
- [61] Alan M. Bond and Peter A. Lay. Cyclic voltammetry at microelectrodes in the absence of added electrolyte using a platinum quasi-reference electrode. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 199(2):285–295, 1986.
- [62] G. A. Snook, A. S. Best, A. G. Pandolfo, and A. F. Hollenkamp. Evaluation of a Ag/Ag+ reference electrode for use in room temperature ionic liquids. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 8(9):1405–1411, 2006.
- [63] Hitoshi Yasunaga and Akiko Natori. Electromigration on semiconductor surfaces. Surface Science Reports, 15(6-7):205–280, 1992.
- [64] William M. Haynes. CRC handbook of chemistry and physics: a ready-reference book of chemical and physical data. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 92nd edition, 2011.
- [65] Xiaofei Yang, Ming Jiang, Xuejie Gao, Danni Bao, Qian Sun, Nathaniel Holmes, Hui Duan, Sankha Mukherjee, Keegan Adair, Changtai Zhao, Jianwen Liang, Weihan Li, Junjie Li, Yang Liu, Huan Huang, Li Zhang, Shigang Lu, Qingwen Lu, Ruying Li, Chandra Veer Singh, and Xueliang Sun. Determining the limiting factor of the electrochemical stability window for PEO-based solid polymer electrolytes: main chain or terminal –OH group? Energy & Environmental Science, 2020.
- [66] E. Peled. The Electrochemical Behavior of Alkali and Alkaline Earth Metals in Nonaqueous Battery Systems—The Solid Electrolyte Interphase Model. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, 126(12):2047, 1979.
- [67] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, and A. A. Firsov. Electric field in atomically thin carbon films. *Science*, 306(5696):666–669, 2004.

- [68] F. Schedin, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, E. W. Hill, P. Blake, M. I. Katsnelson, and K. S. Novoselov. Detection of individual gas molecules adsorbed on graphene. *Nature Materials*, 6(9):652–655, 2007.
- [69] Y. F. Zhou, S. Xie, and C. H. Chen. In-situ thermal polymerization of rechargeable lithium batteries with poly(methyl methacrylate) based gel-polymer electrolyte. *Journal of Materials Science*, 41(22):7492–7497, 2006.
- [70] Hyun Soo Kim, Jung Han Shin, Seong In Moon, and Sang Pil Kim. Preparation of gel polymer electrolytes using PMMA interpenetrating polymeric network and their electrochemical performances. *Electrochimica Acta*, 48(11):1573–1578, 2003.
- [71] M. Deka and A. Kumar. Enhanced electrical and electrochemical properties of PMMAclay nanocomposite gel polymer electrolytes. *Electrochimica Acta*, 55(5):1836–1842, 2010.
- [72] Muhammad Waqas Iqbal, Kinza Shahzad, Hira Ateeq, Imran Aslam, Sikandar Aftab, Sikander Azam, M. A. Kamran, and Muhammad Farooq Khan. An effectual enhancement to the electrical conductivity of graphene FET by silver nanoparticles. *Diamond* and Related Materials, 106(January):107833, 2020.
- [73] Yuyan Shao, Jun Wang, Mark Engelhard, Chongmin Wang, and Yuehe Lin. Facile and controllable electrochemical reduction of graphene oxide and its applications. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 20(4):743–748, 2010.
- [74] Cristina Gómez-Navarro, R. Thomas Weitz, Alexander M. Bittner, Matteo Scolari, Alf Mews, Marko Burghard, and Klaus Kern. Electronic transport properties of individual chemically reduced graphene oxide sheets. *Nano Letters*, 7(11):3499–3503, 2007.
- [75] Jeremy Rutman and Ilan Riess. Placement of reference electrode in solid electrolyte cells. *Electrochimica Acta*, 52(20):6073–6083, 2007.
- [76] J. Winkler. Geometric Requirements of Solid Electrolyte Cells with a Reference Electrode. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 145(4):1184, 1998.
- [77] S. P. Jiang. Cell configurations for performance evaluation in planar solid oxide fuel cells. *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry*, 34(10):1045–1055, 2004.
- [78] Alfonso Reina, Xiaoting Jia, John Ho, Daniel Nezich, Hyungbin Son, Vladimir Bulovic, Mildred S. Dresselhaus, and Kong Jing. Large area, few-layer graphene

films on arbitrary substrates by chemical vapor deposition. Nano Letters, 9(1):30-35, 2009.

- [79] Ganganahalli K. Ramesha and Nivasan Sri Sampath. Electrochemical reduction of oriented Graphene oxide films: An in situ Raman spectroelectrochemical study. *Journal* of Physical Chemistry C, 113(19):7985–7989, 2009.
- [80] Jana Zaumseil, Florian Jakubka, Ming Wang, and Florentina Gannott. In situ raman mapping of charge carrier distribution in electrolyte-gated carbon nanotube network field-effect transistors. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 117(49):26361–26370, 2013.
- [81] Biswanath Chakraborty, Achintya Bera, D. V.S. Muthu, Somnath Bhowmick, U. V. Waghmare, and A. K. Sood. Symmetry-dependent phonon renormalization in monolayer MoS 2 transistor. *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics*, 85(16):2–5, 2012.